

LUND UNIVERSITY

Studies on cellular changes and amnesia in a rat model of electroconvulsive therapy

Jansson, Linda

2011

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Jansson, L. (2011). Studies on cellular changes and amnesia in a rat model of electroconvulsive therapy. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Molecular Psychiatry Unit.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.
Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Studies on cellular changes and amnesia in a rat model of electroconvulsive therapy

Linda Jansson

Molecular Psychiatry Unit Department of Clinical Sciences Lund University Lund, Sweden



Academic dissertation

Lund 2011

ISBN 978-91-86871-14-7 ISSN 1652-8220 Copyright © 2011 Linda Jansson and the respective publishers Medicinska fakulteten, Institutionen för kliniska vetenskaper, Lund Lunds Universitet 2011 Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund, Sweden

Table of Contents

Original articles	7
Abbreviations	8
Summary	10
Svensk populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	13
INTRODUCTION	15
The pathophysiology of depression	15
The monoamine hypothesis of depression	15
Neuroendocrine disturbances in depression	15
The role of brain plasticity in depression	16
Angiogensis and depression	17
Brain regions implicated in depression	18
Current treatments of depressive disorders	18
ЕСТ	19
Theories of ECT's therapeutic mechanisms Actions on monoamine transmitter systems, neuroendocrine e	20 effects
and the anticonvulsant hypothesis	20
The neuroplasticity hypothesis	20
Adverse effects of ECT	21
Potential mechanisms underlying the cognitive side effects of ECT .	22
Cellular damage following ECS?	23
Enhanced plasticity and glial cell activation might indicate ce	llular
damage	23
AIMS OF THE THESIS	25
MATERIALS AND METHODS	26
Animals	26
Treatments	26
Induction of ECS	26

Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) administration Celecoxib administration Chronic lithium treatment	27 27 27
Behavioral tests Morris Water Maze (MWM) navigation task for study of reta and anterograde memory Memory of the task	27 rograde 27
Histological procedures Tissue Preparation Immunofluorescence techniques Immunoperoxidase staining	29 29 29 31
Microscopical analysis Characterization and quantification of cells using epifluor microscopy Characterization and quantification of cells using bri microscopy	
Statistical analysis	32
RESULTS AND COMMENTS	34
ECS-induced endothelial cell proliferation is region-specif correlates with neuronal activation in hypothalamus (paper I)	fic and 34
ECS gave rise to a low-grade glial cell activation in several regions of the brain, but this was not dependent on the s parameters (paper II)	limbic timulus 35
The number of peripheral macrophages adhering to vessels hippocampus is increased following ECS (paper III)	in the 37
No effect of COX-2 inhibitors on memory performance aft (unpublished data)	er ECS:
Lithium prevents the memory deficits induced by ECS, but the clear correlation to glial cell activation or cell death (paper unpublished data)	re is no IV and 39
GENERAL DISCUSSION	41
Possible functions of the ECS-induced increase in hypoth endothelial cell proliferation Vascular expansion to meet an increased metabolic demand Endothelial cells as part of a multicellular cross talk	halamic 41 42 42

Increased endothelial cell proliferation in regions implicated in depression
The glial cell response to ECS - associated with cell damage and/or brain plasticity?
Protection against ECS-induced retrograde amnesia
CONCLUDING REMARKS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS52
REFERENCES

Original articles

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their roman numerals:

I: Jansson L, Hellsten J, Tingström A. Region specific hypothalamic neuronal activation and endothelial cell proliferation in response to electroconvulsive seizures. *Biol Psychiatry*. 2006 Oct 15;60(8):874-81.

II: Jansson L, Wennström M, Johanson A, Tingström A. Glial cell activation in response to electroconvulsive seizures. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. 2009 Oct 1;33(7):1119-28.

III: Jansson L, Tingström A. Repeated electroconvulsive seizures increase the number of vessel-associated macrophages within rat hippocampus. *Manuscript in preparation.*

IV: Orre K, Jansson L, Elfving B, Wegener G, Tingström A. Chronic lithium treatment prevents electroconvulsive seizure-induced spatial memory loss in rats. *Submitted to European Neuropsychopharmacology 2010.*

Abbreviations

АСТН	adrenocorticotropin hormone
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ArcN	arcuate nucleus
AVP	arginine vasopressin
BDNF	brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BrdU	bromodeoxy uridine
CA1-3	cornu ammonis 1-3
COX	cyclooxygenase
CRH	corticotropin-releasing hormone
DAB	diaminobenzidine
DMH	dorsomedial nucleus
ECS	electroconvulsive seizures
ЕСТ	electroconvulsive therapy
FGF-2	fibroblast growth factor
GABA	y-aminobutyric-acid
GCL	granular cell layer
GFAP	glial fibrillary acidic protein
HPA	hypothalamic pituitary-adrenal
Iba-1	ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1
IFN-γ	interferon γ
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor 1
IL	interleukin
KPBS	potassium phosphate-buffered saline
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LTP	long term potentiation
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
ML	molecular layer
MWM	morris water maze
NGS	normal goat serum
NG2	neuron-glia 2
NMDA	N-metyl-D-aspartat
NPY	neuropeptide Y

PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PVN	paraventricular nucleus
RECA-1	rat endothelial cell antigen 1
RUL	right unilateral
SGZ	subgranular zone
SON	supraoptic nucleus
SVZ	subventricular zone
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor α
TUNEL	terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated
	dUTP nick-end labeling
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VMH	ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus

Summary

Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) is one of the most efficient treatments for severe depressive disorders. However, its clinical practice has been limited by concerns about cognitive side effects, most notably anterograde and retrograde amnesia. The principle behind ECT is the induction of a short generalized grand mal seizure. This results in an intense neuronal activation and subsequently a myriad of alterations at biochemical, cellular and network levels. However, the mechanisms that underlie the therapeutic and adverse effects of ECT are not fully understood. In addition to regulation of monoamines, neuropeptides and endocrine hormones, enhanced brain plasticity (for example neurogenesis, angiogenesis, and synaptic reorganization), has been suggested to contribute to the therapeutic effects of ECT.

In the first part of my thesis work, we investigated whether electroconvulsive seizures (ECS), an animal model of ECT, induced cellular plasticity in the hypothalamus, a brain region involved in the regulation of basal functions (sleep, appetite, sex drive, stress response etc) that are often disturbed in depression. We found that ECS treatment leads to an induction of neuronal activation and endothelial cell proliferation in specific hypothalamic nuclei. The endothelial cell proliferation correlated with neuronal activity, both spatially and in magnitude, and was found to increase in nuclei that have been implicated in the neuroendocrine pathophysiology of depression. The increased endothelial cell proliferation might reflect an expansion of the vascular tree in order to meet the raised metabolic demand secondary to ECSinduced neuronal activation. The newly formed hypothalamic endothelial cells should however not just be seen as simple building blocks of blood vessels. Most likely they also play an important role in a multicellular cross talk, exchanging paracrine factors with neurons and glial cells. However, angiogenesis also occurs following insults, and it is possible that the increased endothelial cell proliferation seen in the hypothalamus is part of an inflammatory response to ECS.

A large number of investigations have failed to detect cellular damage in response to ECT, but under certain circumstances limited cell loss might occur. Cell damage is often accompanied by a glial cell response, where the degree of glial cell activation depends on the severity of insult. To elucidate this issue further we have, in the second paper of my thesis work, investigated the glial cell response to ECS within different limbic regions, and further compared two different stimulus parameter protocols. We found that ECS elicited a low-grade glial cell activation, irrespective of stimulus protocol. This was seen as morphological changes of microglia, astrocytes and NG2(+) cells, and increased expression of certain glial cell activation markers. The antigen-presenting molecule major histocompatibility complex II (MHC II) and the lysosomal protein ED1 were upregulated in microglia, preferentially in the hippocampus, while expression of nestin was induced in astrocytes, being most pronounced in the piriform and entorhinal cortex. No increased expression of MHC II or ED1 could be detected in the hypothalamus, the region where ECS induced a marked endothelial cell proliferation. We further (in paper III) demonstrated that ECS stimulates recruitment of peripheral CD163(+) macrophages to the hippocampus. The observed low-grade glial cell activation is compatibe with local clearance of dead cells or debris, but it is also possible that the activated glial cells exert other functions, such as facilitating ECS-induced neuronal plasticity.

In the final paper we tried to block the glial cell activation in order to investigate whether this affected memory function. We also measured the level of apoptotic cell death after ECS. It was clear that animals treated with ECS showed significant retrograde amnesia in Morris water maze (a test for spatial, hippocampus-dependent, memory), and that ECS induced a slightly increased apoptotic cell death in the hippocampus. Treatment with the neuroprotective and anti-inflammatory agent lithium abolished ECS-induced retrograde amnesia. We hypothesized that this might be associated with an attenuation of the ECS-induced glial cell activation and cell death in hippocampus, but found, on the contrary, that lithium treatment in combination with ECS slightly enhanced apoptotic cell death and activation of astrocytes, while the degree of microglia activation was unchanged.

All together, the results of my thesis suggest that ECS induces endothelial cell proliferation in the hypothalamus, apparently without concurrent glial cell activation in the same region. The low-grade glial cell activation in other limbic regions, most notably in the hippocampus, might reflect the minor increase of apoptotic cell death following ECS. However, that lithium could abolish retrograde amnesia concomitant to slightly increased cell death and astrocyte activation indicates that the amnestic effects of ECS are independent of these processes. The functional significance of endothelial cell

proliferation and glial cell activation in relation to the effects of ECS remains to be shown. Further studies of lithium's effect on ECS-induced memory disturbances could be of major interest as part of ongoing attempts of refining and optimizing ECT.

Svensk populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Depression är en av de stora folksjukdomarna och drabbar varannan kvinna och var fjärde man någon gång under deras livstid. Vid djupa depressioner, då självmordsrisken är hög eller då patienten hamnat i ett livshotande tillstånd på grund av oförmåga att äta och dricka används elektrokonvulsiv terapi (ECT), eller som det ofta kallas, "elbehandling". Ungefär 45 000 patienter behandlas med ECT varje år i Sverige, och i de flesta fall ger behandlingen god effekt ganska omgående. Nackdelen är att ECT kan ge biverkningar i form av minnesstörningar. Detta har, tillsammans med den negativa bild som media ofta ger av ECT, lett till att många betraktar ECT som en kontroversiell behandling.

Trots att ECT använts i över 70 år, vet man ännu inte exakt vilka mekanismer som ligger bakom den antidepressiva effekten respektive minnesstörningarna. Enligt nyare hypoteser kan den antidepressiva effekten bero på att ECT ökar nybildningen av nervceller, samtidigt som kopplingarna mellan nervcellerna blir fler. Man menar att denna tillväxt skulle kunna bidra till att motverka den volymminskning av vissa hjärnområden (bl.a. hippokampus) som ofta ses hos deprimerade patienter. Vår forskargrupp har tidigare visat att ECT-behandling, som i djurförsök benämns elektrokonvulsiv stimulering (ECS), ger upphov till blodkärlsnybildning i hippokampus. Detta skulle kunna vara direkt avgörande för tillväxten genom att ge en ökad blodförsörjning.

I min avhandling har jag visat att ECS dessutom kan ge upphov till nybildning av blodkärlsceller i hypotalamus, ett hjärnområde som styr basala funktioner, t ex sömnreglering, aptit och det hormonella svaret på stress. Dessa är funktioner som ofta är störda vid depression. Den ökade kärlnybildningen i hypotalamus kan vara ett svar på den samtidiga nervcellaktivering som sker där efter ECS. Det är också möjligt att kärlnybildningen utgör ett delfenomen i en inflammatorisk process kopplad till cellskada.

Det är helt klarlagt att ECT inte ger hjärnskador på samma vis som långvariga epileptiska anfall – men under vissa omständigheter skulle begränsad celldöd kunna förekomma. Vid cellskada aktiveras gliaceller som en del i en neuroinflammatorisk process. Aktiverade gliaceller kan även ha betydelse för reglering av nybildning och utmognad av nervceller.

I arbete II och III har jag undersökt gliacellsaktivering i hypotalamus och andra delar av det limbiska systemet (strukturer som är kopplade till känsloreglering). Vi fann aktiverade gliaceller i alla regioner förutom just hypotalamus, vilket skulle kunna tolkas som att nybildningen av blodkärlscellerna i hypotalamus inte är ett led i en neuroinflammatorisk process. I övriga limbiska områden var gliacellsaktiveringen så pass diskret att denna inte heller nödvändigtvis tyder på cellskada, utan istället kan vara ett svar på de tillväxtprocesser man ser efter ECS.

I det avslutande arbetet ville jag undersöka kopplingen mellan den observerade gliacellsaktiveringen och ECS-inducerade minnesstörningar. Vi behandlade djuren med litium, som har nervcellsskyddande och antiinflammatoriska egenskaper. Litiumbehandling motverkade helt de minnesstörningar som uppkommer efter ECS. Gliacellsaktiveringen och nivån av celldöd var däremot oförändrad, eller till och med något förhöjd, efter litiumbehandling. Detta tyder på att den minnesskyddande effekten av litium inte beror på minskning av celldöd eller inflammation utan måste förklaras av andra mekanismer. Fortsatta studier av litiums hämmande effekt på de ECSinducerade minnesrubbningarna kan på sikt få stor betydelse för utvecklingen av en ECT-behandling med färre biverkningar.

INTRODUCTION

The pathophysiology of depression

Major depression is a mental disorder characterized by an all-encompassing low mood, accompanied by low self-esteem and loss of interest or pleasure in normally enjoyable activities. Additional symptoms include disturbed sleep and appetite, weight loss, feelings of guilt and worthlessness, lack of energy, decreased ability to think or concentrate and suicidal thoughts. According to WHO (2010) depression is among the leading causes of disability worldwide, affecting 121 million people per year.

The monoamine hypothesis of depression

One of the most well known biological hypotheses regarding the pathophysiology of depression is "the monoamine hypothesis", which states that disturbances of the monoaminergic neurotransmission cause the disease. Support for this theory stems from the observation that all major antidepressant medications share the common effect of modulating the levels of monoamines (serotonin, noradrenalin, and dopamine) in the brain. However, the monoamine hypothesis has its limitations and did for example in its original form not take into account the fact that antidepressant drugs typically need to be taken severeal weeks before clinical effect is observed. It has been proposed that the monoamine systems influence other neurobiological systems with a more primary role in depression (Heninger et al., 1996).

Neuroendocrine disturbances in depression

Disturbed appetite, sleep, and sexual interest are frequent findings in depression. These symptoms emanate from dysregulation of hypothalamic neuroendocrine systems (Holsboer, 2001). In particular, a dysregulated stress response is a well-acknowledged condition implicated in depressive disorders, first described in the 1950s (Board et al., 1956). The stress response is mediated by the hypothalamic pituitary-adrenal (HPA) system.

Neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) produce the corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which is released into the portal blood system of the anterior pituitary gland. CRH induce release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the pituitary gland, which subsequently stimulate release of the glucocorticoid stress hormone cortisol from the adrenal cortex. Arginine vasopressin (AVP) potentiates the effects of CRH and is coexpressed by the CRH-producing neurons (for review see Bao et al., 2008). Elevated levels of CRH in depressed patients tend to normalize after antidepressant treatment (Nemeroff et al., 1984; Nemeroff et al., 1991). Various other indications point to a causal and primary role for a hyperactive HPA axis in depression (Pariante, 2003; Bao et al., 2008). For example, increased numbers of CRH-producing neurons (Raadsheer et al., 1994), changes in CRH binding sites (Nemeroff et al., 1988), and pituitary and adrenal enlargements (Krishnan et al., 1991; Axelson et al., 1992; Nemeroff et al., 1992; Rubin et al., 1995) have been reported in depressed subjects. Furthermore, pharmacological treatment with glucocorticoids often induces depression. Some studies show that abnormalities in HPA-axis function already exist prior to the onset of the clinical symptoms, suggesting that such abnormalities not only correlate, but also precipitate depressive episodes (Holsboer, 2000).

The role of brain plasticity in depression

A more recent hypothesis suggests that depression partly could be explained by a failure of adult hippocampal neurogenesis (Duman et al., 2000; Jacobs et al., 2000; D'Sa and Duman, 2002; Jacobs, 2002; Kempermann, 2002). Neurogenesis is the generation and integration of new neurons, postnatally confined to two neurogenic zones in the brain – the subventricular zone (SVZ) lining the lateral ventricles and the subgranular zone (SGZ), part of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus. There are basically two lines of evidence that give support to the neurogenesis hypothesis of depression. Firstly, all known antidepressant treatments stimulate the proliferation of hippocampal neurons in animal models (Madsen et al., 2000; Malberg et al., 2000; Scott et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2009). It has been proposed that the latency to the onset of an antidepressive effect could reflect the maturation period of a new neuron. The neurogenesis hypothesis gained ground when Santarelli et al., (2003) in a mouse model demonstrated that local irradiation of the hippocampus blocked both neurogenesis and the antidepressant effect induced by fluoxetine, an antidepressant medication. However, since irradiation affects several other cellular processes in addition to neurogenesis, the validity of this study has subsequently been questioned

(Henn and Vollmayer, 2004). Further support for the neurogenesis hypothesis of depression comes from morphometric and morphologic analyses of the hippocampus, which have revealed volume loss and gray matter alterations in depressed patients (Sheline, 2000). Such volume loss is thought to reflect a decrease in neurogenesis, and tends to be reversible upon remission of the disease (Frodl et al., 2002). It has further been suggested that volume loss and changes of the hippocampus are related to HPA dysfunction. The neurons of the hippocampus express high levels of glucocorticoid receptors (GR), which are activated during stress. Prolonged exposure of animals to a high level of corticosterone suppresses neurogenesis and presumably causes neuronal degeneration (Gold et al., 1988; Sapolsky 2000).

Although depressive psychopathology involves some hippocampal symptoms, major depression has not generally been considered a hippocampal disorder. It has lately been stated that decreased neurogenesis might predispose to depression without being causative (Perera et al., 2008). Kempermann and Kronenberg, (2003) propose that adult hippocampal neurogenesis is merely one aspect of a more general cellular plasticity, involving also glial cell proliferation and cellular plasticity in areas outside the hippocampus.

Angiogensis and depression

Angiogenesis – the growth of new blood vessels from preexisting vessels – has recently gained interest as being relevant for the pathophysiology of depression. It is well known that there is comorbidity between vascular disease and depression (Halaris, 2009), and it has been shown that angiogenesis is a crucial part of neuronal plasticity (Black et al., 1989). Generation and maturation of new neurons, expansion of dendritic trees and remodeling of synapses, are all energy demanding processes that require supplies of nutrients and oxygen from the blood. When the metabolic demand exceeds the availability, angiogenesis is triggered in order to meet raised metabolic demands. Furthermore, adult neurogenesis has been described as occurring within an "angiogenic niche", where neuronal and glial precursors divide in close proximity to proliferating endothelial cells (Palmer et al., 2000). Growth factors such as BDNF, fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2), neuropeptide Y (NPY) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) are known to stimulate neurogenesis as well as angiogenesis (Ghosh and Greenberg 1995; Slavin, 1995; Zigova et al., 1998; Zukowska-Grojec et al., 1998; Pencea et al., 2001; Jin et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2004; Howell et al., 2005), indicating a possible coregulation. Moreover, antidepressant treatments have been shown to induce angiogenic factors (Newton et al., 2003; Greene et al., 2009) and proliferation of endothelial cells in the hippocampus (Hellsten et

al., 2004; Perera et al., 2007) and prefrontal cortex (Kodama et al., 2004; Madsen et al., 2005; Czéh et al., 2007).

Brain regions implicated in depression

Several limbic regions, important for emotional regulation, executive functioning, and memory, are implicated in the pathophysiology of depression and targets for antidepressant treatment (Berton and Nestler, 2006; Krishnan and Nestler, 2008). Postmortem and neuroimaging studies of depressed patients have revealed reductions in volume and glial cell density in the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus (Drevets, 2001; Sheline, 2003). The prefrontal cortex is important for executive functions, while the hippocampus, together with the entorhinal cortex, is involved in the processes of learning and memory storage. Neuronal activity within the amygdala and subgenual cingulate cortex (a subregion within the prefrontal cortex) is increased in healthy subjects experiencing transient sadness and chronically increased in depressed individuals, but is normalized after successful treatment (Drevets, 2001; Ressler and Mayberg, 2007). Basal functions such as sleep, appetite, sexual drive, and stress response are regulated from the hypothalamus and amygdala, and are often disturbed in depression. However, it should be noted that the limbic regions are highly interconnected and although evidence points to involvement of certain regions in the etiology of depression, it is likely to be a simplistic view to localize a function to one anatomical area.

Current treatments of depressive disorders

Three major types of antidepressant treatment are used in psychiatry: psychotherapy, treatment with antidepressant drugs, and electroconvulsive therapy (ECT). Psychotherapy is primarily used in milder cases of depression. The first choice of treatment for moderate and severe types of depression is usually antidepressant drugs. There are several different classes of antidepressant drugs, but the majority of these have in common an effect on serotonergic or noradrenergic neurotransmission, or both (Kalat, 2001). Many of the antidepressant drugs are efficacious in only 60%-70% of patients (APA 2000). The main indications for ECT are severe major depression with psychotic features, if the person is not eating and drinking or if there is a high risk of suicide, but ECT is also effective in manic and catatonic states. With correct indication, ECT is effective in 80%-90% of all cases (APA, 2000). A major advantage of ECT is that the clinical response is faster compared with other currently available antidepressant treatments. Antidepressant drugs

normally alleviate the symptoms after approximately three to five weeks, while patients treated with ECT can experience symptom relief after one to two weeks, and sometimes already after a single ECT session.

ECT

The principle behind ECT is the induction of a short generalized epileptic seizure via electrical stimulation. ECT has been used clinically since the 1930s, but the technique of administering ECT has been refined considerably over the years. In the mid-1950s, muscle relaxation and anesthesia along with hyperoxygenation were introduced as routine measures for ECT. Further modifications in order to minimize the side effects of ECT were unilateral electrode placement and brief-pulse stimulation (for review see Fink, 1999). Despite these improvements, the use of ECT began to decline in the mid-1950s and continued to do so for many years (Babigian and Guttmacher, 1984; Shorter and Healey, 2007), mainly because of the steady growth of antidepressant drugs along with the negative descriptions of ECT in the mass media. When the screen version of Ken Kesey's novel "One Flew Over the Cuckoo's Nest" was released 1975 and depicted ECT as a tool of terror, used by the staff at a psychiatric ward to control insubordinate patients, it undoubtedly left the public with an unfavorable view of ECT. Along with many other presentations of ECT in the media as a cruel and inhumane treatment, ECT soon fell into disrepute. The use of ECT further declined until the 1980s, when there was a growing awareness of its benefits for treating severe depression. The interest in ECT was revived, and the use of the treatment has continued to grow since then. Richard Abrams, author of "Electroconvulsive Therapy" – considered to be the standard textbook of the field - estimates that 1-2 million people receive ECT annually worldwide (Abrams, 2002). In Sweden, around 45 000 patients are treated with ECT each year, which is twice the number 10 years ago.

The mortality rate is low, 2-10 per 100 000 treatments, comparable to that of anesthesia for minor surgery (Shiwach et al., 2001). However, cognitive side effects, most notably retrograde and anterograde amnesia, are sometimes seen in patients treated with ECT. The exact mechanisms behind ECT's therapeutic and adverse effects are only partially understood.

Theories of ECT's therapeutic mechanisms

ECT has a wide range of effects, many involving cellular and molecular alterations that antagonize or normalize the neurobiological disturbances seen in depression. The antidepressant actions of ECT have been suggested to include regulation of the monoamine neurotransmitter systems and the neuroendocrine systems. The anticonvulsant response to ECT and the enhanced cellular plasticity have also been proposed to underlie the therapeutic effect of ECT (reviewed in Mann, 1998 and Merkl et al., 2009).

Actions on monoamine transmitter systems, neuroendocrine effects and the anticonvulsant hypothesis

Plausible therapeutic effects of ECT via the monoamine neurotransmitter systems include sensitization of serotonergic and dopaminergic receptors, as well as a decreased release of noradrenalin and a normalization of the noradrenergic receptor sensitivity (Ottosson, 1983). A number of neuropeptides and hormones that are regulated from the hypothalamus, such as prolactin, NPY, AVP, oxytocin, and CRH, have also been implicated in the antidepressant actions of ECT (Whalley et al., 1987; Herman et al., 1989; Stenfors et al., 1989; Smith et al., 1994; Scott and Dinan, 1998), although their relation to clinical improvements is inconsistent (Smith et al., 1994; Devanand et al., 1998). Most notably is perhaps the ECT-induced restoration of HPA-axis abnormalities, which actually have been correlated to clinical improvements (Kunugi et al., 2006).

The "anticonvulsant hypothesis" suggests that ECT exerts its therapeutic effects through an increase in inhibitory gamma-aminobutyric-acid (GABA) neurotransmission (Sackeim et al., 1983; Sanacora et al., 2003). Relationships between clinical improvements and sustained postictal suppression – a suppression of electrical brain activity immediately following ECT – further reinforce this hypothesis (Nobler et al., 1993; Krystal et al., 1995; Suppes et al., 1996; Azuma et al., 2007).

The neuroplasticity hypothesis

ECT stands out among antidepressant treatments by having a particularly strong effect on neuroplasticity and neuroprotection (Kondratyev et al., 2001; Taylor, 2008). Both acute and chronic electroconvulsive seizures (ECS), an animal model of ECT, enhance hippocampal neurogenesis in the range of two-to threefold (Madsen et al., 2000; Malberg et al., 2000; Scott et al., 2000). Chronic, but not acute, treatment with antidepressive drugs increases neurogenesis by approximately 20%-25% (Chen et al., 2000; Malberg et al., 2000). There is also enhanced gliogenesis in the hippocampus (Wennström et

al., 2003), amygdala (Wennström et al., 2004), and prefrontal cortex (Madsen et al., 2005) as well as increased hippocampal endothelial cell proliferation (Hellsten et al., 2004) leading to an increased vascular density (Hellsten et al., 2005) in response to ECS. Furthermore, ECS has been shown to increase the total number of synapses (Chen et al., 2009) and to stimulate axonal sprouting (Vaidya et al., 1999; Lamont et al., 2001) in the hippocampus. All these actions may derive from changes in the availability of neurotrophic factors, including upregulation of growth factors such as BDNF, VEGF, NGF, and FGF-2 (Nibuya et al., 1995; Gwinn et al., 2002; Newton et al., 2003; Balu et al., 2008; Conti et al., 2009) and downregulation of proapoptotic agents (Kondratyev et al., 2001; Zarubenko et al., 2005). It is intriguing to speculate that these ECS-induced neuroplastic processes might alter the neural microenvironment in such ways that cellular atrophy and dysfunctional neuronal circuits in depressed patients are revoked. In line with the view of ECT as a growth-promoting treatment, a recent clinical study showed increased hippocampal volumes in patients treated with ECT (Nordanskog et al., 2010). Neuroprotective effects of ECS has further been demonstrated, as pretreatment with ECS protects against subsequent neurodegeneration induced in rodent models of adrenalectomy (Masco et al., 1999), epilepsy (Kondratyev et al., 2001), forebrain ischemia (Mishima et al., 2005) and Parkinson's disease (Anastasia et al., 2007).

Adverse effects of ECT

The clinical use of ECT has been limited by concerns about side effects, such as retrograde and anterograde amnesia (recall of memories and learning, respectively). Immediately after ECT, most patients experience retrograde amnesia involving events shortly before the treatment, but improvements are usually seen within a few months. However, significant loss of recall, i.e. retrograde amnesia that lasts for more than 4 weeks or is even persistent, has been reported (Lisanby et al., 2000; Sackeim et al., 2000; Sackeim et al., 2007). Anterograde amnesia, on the other hand, has not been reported to persist for more than 4 weeks after the ECT treatment according to a review by Nobler and Sackeim, (2008). Memory disturbances following ECT are usually more likely to affect the elderly and patients already experiencing cognitive deficits (Mulsant et al., 1991; Donahue, 2000).

There have been many attempts to minimize adverse effects without losing the efficacy of ECT. Manipulations of electrode placements, seizure threshold, and electrical pulse width during ECT have been tried in order to reduce the cognitive side effects (Loo et al., 2006). Originally, ECT was administered bilaterally (with electrodes placed on each side of the skull), but a right

unilateral (RUL) electrode placement (stimulation of the right hemisphere of the brain) was later introduced. RUL ECT at high, but not low dosage has been shown to be as effective as bilateral ECT at a standard dosage, while causing less cognitive side effects (Sackeim et al., 2000; Stoppe et al., 2006). Furthermore, RUL ECT with an ultra brief pulse width (0.3 ms) compared with standard pulse width (1 ms) further diminished memory impairments, particularly regarding the retention of verbal and visual information as well as retrograde autobiographical memory (Loo et al., 2008). Although RUL ECT with an ultra brief pulse width seems to be associated with less side effects, studies reporting reduced efficacy and slower treatment response compared with bilateral ECT suggest a need for further investigation (McCormick et al., 2009; Ottosson and Odeberg, 2011).

Potential mechanisms underlying the cognitive side effects of ECT

The molecular mechanisms behind ECT-induced memory disturbances are poorly understood. Persuasive evidence for the involvement of glutamatergic, cholinergic, glucocorticoid, and cyclooxygenase (COX) related mechanisms in ECT-induced amnesia have been presented (for review see Pigot et al., 2008). The hippocampus plays a major role in memory consolidation and spatial navigation, and the ability to form and retain memories is dependent on the integrity of the hippocampus (Squire et al., 2004).

Long-term potentiation (LTP) is a glutamate/Ca²⁺ dependent mechanism, widely accepted as the primary process underlying learning and memory (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993). During seizures, there is a substantial increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ through the glutamate-induced activation of NMDA receptors (Dubovsky et al., 2001), likely to cause an indiscriminate LTP induction resulting in saturation of the system. Thus, the capacity of further induction of LTP is exhausted and the process of memory recall and learning is thus impaired (Stewart and Reid, 1994). In support of this theory, the NMDA receptor antagonist ketamine has been shown to reduce ECT-induced amnesia (McDaniel et al., 2006), and the majority of calcium channel blockers preserve memory retention in rat models of ECS (Zupan et al., 1996; Kamath et al., 1997; Sushma et al., 2004). However, clinical trials of calcium channel blockers have not been able to show reduced memory-related side effcts of ECT (Cohen and Swartz, 1990; Dubovsky et al., 2001).

Acetylcholine, cortisol, and COX-2 are all involved in the processes of memory and learning, and the increased levels following ECT have been suggested to impair memory mechanisms (Lerer et al., 1984; Florkowski et al., 1996;

Lipsky, 1999; Newton et al., 2003; for review see Pigot et al., 2008). In support, coadministration of inhibitors of these factors was shown to prevent or attenuate amnesia following ECS (Levin et al., 1987; Rao et al., 2002; Prakash et al., 2006; Nagaraja et al., 2007; Andrade et al., 2008a; Matthews et al., 2008). Further research to improve our understanding of the mechanisms involved in the cognitive adverse effects of ECT, or finding new treatments with the potential to attenuate these, could be of great significance for future clinical use of ECT.

Cellular damage following ECS?

The cognitive deficits have raised concerns to whether ECT induces neuronal damage in the hippocampus. Hippocampal neurons are particularly vulnerable to seizures, i.e. more readily excited and thus more sensitive to excitotoxicity. A few studies have shown that ECS leads to loss of neurons in the hippocampus as well as the entorhinal cortex (Lukoyanov et al., 2004; Zarubenko et al., 2005; Cardoso et al., 2008) but in contradiction, it has repeatedly been stated that ECT/ECS does not cause any harm to neurons (Coffey et al., 1991; Devanand et al., 1994; Dalby et al., 1996; Ende et al., 2000; Dwork et al., 2004; Dwork et al., 2009). The opinion of most experts is that animal studies, at worst, show minimal damage, and that under conditions approximating modern clinical ECT, brain damage is unlikely.

Enhanced plasticity and glial cell activation might indicate cellular damage

Although many studies speaks against cellular damage following ECT/ECS, the response to ECS seems to have some similarities to a reaction to brain insult. Firstly, increased cellular plasticity such as neurogenesis and angiogenesis – observed after ECS – is often seen in association with regrowth and repair following brain injury. Furthermore, cellular damage is accompanied by glial cell activation. Previous studies have reported glial cell activativation following ECS, seen as increased glial cell proliferation (Wennström et al., 2003; Wennström et al., 2004; Madsen et al., 2005), upregulation of GFAP in astrocytes (Dwork et al., 2004) as well as morphological alterations of microglia in the hippocampus (Jinno and Kosaka, 2008).

Glial cell activation is also referred to as neuroinflammation, a term often associated with the more chronic, detrimental process of glial cell activation. However, neuroinflammation in its correct meaning refers to a restorative

process unless it becomes chronic (Graeber and Streit, 2010). Neuroinflammation is driven by the activation of resident microglia, astrocytes and infiltrating peripheral macrophages, which release a plethora of anti- and proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, neurotransmitters, neurotrophic factors and reactive oxygen species. It seems to be commonly acknowledged that the profile of the inflammatory reaction is contextdependent and that microglia, as the key regulators of the neuroinflammatory response, adapt specifically to the given microenvironmental changes (Hanisch and Kettenmann, 2007; Ekdahl et al., 2009; Streit and Xue, 2009). Microglia are very responsive and react to virtually any change in the microenvironment, and depending on the severity of the insult they aquire various intermediate states of activation. There is also growing evidence for the involvement of microglia and the immune system in the processes of neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity (Schwartz, 2001; Ziv and Schwartz, 2008; Ekdahl et al., 2009; Whitney et al., 2009; Ben Achour and Pascual 2010; Graeber and Streit 2010).

AIMS OF THE THESIS

To investigate whether ECS induces endothelial cell proliferation in the hypothalamus, and its relation to neuronal activation.

To determine if ECS causes glial cell activation and whether this is dependent on different ECS stimulus parameters.

To investigate whether blood-borne immune cells are recruited to the hippocampus in response to ECS.

To investigate whether celecoxib and lithium have the potential to attenuate the memory disturbances seen after ECS and investigate whether this is correlated to hippocampal cell death and glial cell activation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Adult Wistar (papers I and II) and Sprague–Dawley (papers III and IV) male rats were used in the studies. The rats were housed three per cage, had free access to food and water and were kept on a 12 h light–dark cycle during all experiments. Experimental procedures were conducted according to the guidelines set by the Malmö/Lund ethical committee for the use and care of laboratory animals.

Treatments

Induction of ECS

Rats were given ECS once daily for one (paper I), five (papers I and IV) or ten (papers I, II and III) consecutive days. Electrical current was delivered through silver electrode ear clips with a pulse generator applying unidirectional square wave pulses (current 50 mA, frequency 50 Hz, pulse width 10 ms, and pulse train duration 0.5 s). In paper III, we also used a different set of stimulus parameters (current 100 mA, frequency 70 Hz, pulse width 0.5 ms, and pulse train duration 1 s). In paper I, the rats were monitored after the ECS treatment to ensure that clonic movements of the face and forelimbs, which are indicative of limbic seizures, occurred for a minimum of 20 s. In paper II, we introduced a standardized way of estimating the duration of tonic seizures. Tonic seizure length was then defined as the time from the start of the motor seizure to the point where the forelimbs of the rat reached a position perpendicular to the body. We found this method straightforward and reproducible, and continued to use it throughout the studies. All rats given ECS were monitored during their wake-up phase and continuously, to ensure their well-being after the seizure. Control rats were sham treated, i.e. handled identically to the ECS rats, but without delivery of electrical current.

Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) administration

BrdU (B5002; Sigma Aldrich) is a thymidine analogue that is incorporated into dividing cells during the S-phase and thus serves as a marker for proliferating cells. BrdU was dissolved in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (20 mg/mL) and administered by intraperitoneal injections (50 mg/kg) at 12 h intervals for 5 days (paper I).

Celecoxib administration (unpublished result)

Celecoxib, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, was administered through chow containing 187.5 mg or 625 mg celecoxib/kg (produced by Lantmännen). This dose has been calculated to correspond to a daily dose of about 15 mg or 50 mg/kg rat. The lower dose has been used by others to attenuate ECS-induced retrograde amnesia (Andrade et al., 2008a). Administration of celecoxib was started 10 days prior to the ECS course and was continued throughout the study.

Chronic lithium treatment

Lithium (paper IV) was administered through chow containing 2 g lithium chloride/kg (produced by Lantmännen). This lithium dose has previously been used in our lab and shown to give lithium serum concentrations within the recommended therapeutic range for humans (Orre et al., 2009). Rats had free access to chow, water, and saline throughout the experiments. To reach a "steady state" of lithium levels, the lithium administration started 10 days prior to the ECS treatment.

Behavioral tests

Morris water maze (MWM) navigation task for study of retrograde and anterograde memory

In study IV, we used the hippocampus-dependent MWM test to assess spatial retrograde and anterograde memory (the recall of acquired memories and ability to learn, respectively) (Morris 1984). The maze consisted of a 45 cm deep, circular tank (180 cm in diameter) filled with water ($20 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C) to a depth of 30 cm and was divided into four equal-sized quadrants with imaginary lines. The water was made opaque by addition of nontoxic white paint, and a platform (15 cm in diameter) was submerged 1.5 cm at a fixed position in the center of one of the quadrants. Visual extramaze cues,

consisting of large black-and-white abstract figures on the walls, were kept constant during the experiment. To familiarize the animals with the maze, we conducted a pretrial 1 day before the first day of training during which each rat swam for 60 s while no extramaze cues were present.

During the learning trials (four trials per day for eight consecutive days), the rats were trained to find the hidden platform by navigation using the extramaze cues. On each trial, the rat was placed in the water facing the pool wall at one of the four fixed starting points. The order of starting points was randomly varied. Rats finding and climbing onto the platform had to remain on it for 20 s. If rats failed to find the escape platform within 90 s, the experimenter guided them. The rats were allowed to rest for 20 s between the four daily trials. The swim path was recorded using a computerized video-tracking system (Ethovision 3.1, Noldus, The Netherlands). Escape latency (i.e. time required to reach the platform) and distance swum were evaluated. Data from the four daily trials were pooled to provide averaged data per rat and day.

To test whether ECS influences retrograde memory (recollection of acquired memories), the learning trials were conducted before ECS-treatment. At 24 h after the last ECS treatment, a probe trial (90 s) was performed. To test anterograde memory (learning ability), the learning trials were conducted after the course of ECS, and analysed for differences between groups. As an additional test of anterograde memory, we conducted a probe trial 24 h after the last anterograde learning trial. Before the probe trials, the platform was removed and time spent in the quadrant of the former platform position (platform quadrant), mean distance to the former position of the platform (first platform crossing), and number of crossings over the former platform results of the former platform area (platform crossings) were evaluated.

Memory of the task

In addition to spatial navigation, the MWM test also included learning about the task, i.e. learning to swim away from the sidewall, find a hidden platform and stay on it (Morris 1984). When first introduced to the water maze, most rats swim around the pool close to the sidewall – this natural proclivity to stay near the perimeters of a novel environment is known as thigmotaxis. However, they soon learn to swim to the inner part of the pool. In the retrograde memory study, thigmotaxis – i.e. time spent in the area 0–15 cm from the sidewall – was analyzed for the ECS group during the first learning trial and compared with the probe trial (paper IV).

Histological procedures

Tissue preparation

Animals were anaesthetized with sodium pentobarbital and ensured to be without any nociceptive responses before they were transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline (100 mL), followed by cold 4% paraformaldehyde (200 mL). Brains were postfixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight (papers I and IV) and for 3 or 4 hours (papers II and III, respectively) at 4°C and then cryoprotected in sucrose in PBS. Coronal sections of the brains (40 μ m in papers I and IV or 30 μ m in papers II and III) were cut on a freezing microtome and stored in an antifreeze cryoprotectant solution at –20°C until the immunohistochemical procedure.

Immunofluorescence techniques

Immunofluorescence labeling of brain sections was performed in papers I–III. Specific antibody data is presented in Table 1, but the basic protocol of all immunofluorescence staining procedures is as follows. Brain sections were rinsed (3 x 10 min) in 0.02 mol/L potassium phosphate buffered saline (KPBS) and then incubated in blocking solution (KPBS + 5% normal donkey serum (Harlan Sera-Lab) or 5% normal goat serum (NGS; Harlan Sera-Lab) + 0.25% Triton X-100 (Sigma Aldrich)) for 30–60 min at room temperature. Sections were then incubated with primary antibodies for 24–72 h at 4°C. Sections were rinsed with KPBS and subsequently incubated with secondary antibodies for 24–48 h at 4°C. Sections were rinsed in KPBS and when tertiary antibodies were applied, incubated with Alexa 488 (1:250, Molecular Probes) for 24 h at 4°C. After washing with KPBS, sections were mounted on Super Frost slides, air dried, and coverslipped with glycerol-based mounting medium.

The staining of RECA-1/BrdU was performed sequentially, with labeling of RECA-1 first. Before incubation with anti-BrdU, the sections were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min at room temperature, rinsed in KPBS, incubated in 1 mol/L hydrochloric acid at 65°C for 30 min, rinsed in KPBS, and exposed to blocking solution for 1 h at room temperature.

Table 1. Double immunofluorescense staining protocol		
Primary antibodies (concentration; incubation time; manufacturer)	Secondary antibodies (concentration; incubation time; manufacturer)	
Immunofluorescence labeling		
Mouse anti-Rat Endothelial Cell Antigen 1 (RECA-1)	biotinylated donkey anti-mouse	
(1:100; 48-72 h; Serotec)	(1:200; 2-24 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Rat anti-Bromodeoxy Uridine (BrdU)	Cy3-conjugated donkey anti-rat	
(1:100; 40 h; Oxford Biotechnology)	(1:200; 24 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Rabbit anti-c-Fos	Cy3-conjugated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:2000; 72 h; Sigma Aldrich)	(1:200; 2 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Mouse anti-NeuN	biotinylated donkey anti-mouse	
(1:100; 72 h; Chemicon)	(1:200; 2 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Rabbit anti-Iba-1	Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:1000; 24 h; Wako)	(1:1000; 24 h; Invitrogen, Molecular Probes)	
Mouse anti-Major Histocompatibility Complex II (MHC II) (1:500; 24 h; AbD Serotec)	Cy3-conjugated goat anti-mouse (1:800; 24 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Mouse anti-ED1	Cy3-conjugated goat anti-mouse	
(1:200; 24 h; Serotec)	(1:800; 24 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Rabbit anti-Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP)	Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:2000; 24 h; Dakocytomation)	(1:1000; 24 h; Invitrogen, Molecular Probes)	
Mouse anti-nestin	Cy3-conjugated goat anti-mouse	
(1:1000; 24 h; BD Bioscience Pharmingen)	(1:800; 24 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Rabbit anti-Laminin	Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:1000; 24 h; Sigma-Aldrich)	(1:1000; 24 h; Invitrogen, Molecular Probes)	
Mouse anti-CD163	Cy3-conjugated goat anti-mouse	
(1:500; 24 h; AbD Serotec)	(1:800; 24 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Mouse anti-CD4	Cy3-conjugated goat anti-mouse	
(1:500; 24 h; AbD Serotec)	(1:800; 24 h; Jackson Immunoresearch)	
Immunoperoxidase labeling		
Rabbit anti-c-Fos	biotinylated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:2000; 40 h; Sigma Aldrich)	(1:500; 2 h; Vector Laboratories)	
Rabbit anti-Iba-1	biotinylated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:1000; 24h; Wako)	(1:1000; 24 h; Vector Laboratories)	
Rabbit anti-Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein (GFAP)	biotinylated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:2000; 24 h; Dakocytomation)	(1:1000; 24 h; Vector Laboratories)	
Rabbit anti-NG2	biotinylated goat anti-rabbit	
(1:1000; 24 h; Chemicon)	(1:1000; 24 h; Vector Laboratories)	

Г

Immunoperoxidase staining

Immunoperoxidase antibody labeling was conducted for c-Fos in paper I and for Iba-1, GFAP, and NG2 in paper II. Specific antibody data is presented in Table 1, but the basic protocol of the immunoperoxidase staining is described below.

Sections were rinsed (3 x 10 min) in KPBS followed by quenching in 3% H₂O₂ and 10% methanol. After rinsing, the sections were incubated in blocking solution (KPBS, 0.25% Triton X-100, and 5% NGS (Chemicon)) for 1 h at room temperature, followed by incubation with primary antibodies at 4°C. Sections were rinsed with KPBS and incubated with biotinylated secondary antibodies at 4°C. Sections were then rinsed in KPBS before incubation with an avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (Vectastain Elite ABC Kit, Vector Laboratories Inc.) in KPBS for 1 h at room temperature. After rinsing, nickel-enhanced diaminobenzidine (DAB-Ni) was applied for antibody-complex detection, followed by rinsing in KPBS. Sections were mounted on Super Frost slides, dehydrated, and coverslipped with xylene-based mounting medium.

In paper IV, apoptotic cells were visualized through terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated dUTP nick-end labeling (TUNEL). A TUNEL-POD kit (Roche Diagnostics) was used and the staining was performed according to the manufacturer's manual for fixed tissue. Sections were pretreated with proteinase K (Roche Diagnostics) for 12 min and DAB was applied for peroxidase detection.

Microscopical analysis

Characterization and quantification of cells using epifluorescence microscopy

An Olympus AX70 fluorescence microscope (Olympus Optical) with a 40x objective was used for all analyses of immunofluorescence staining. Stained tissue sections from different treatment groups were randomly mixed and coded; thus, the person analyzing the sections was blinded to the treatment group.

To assess hypothalamic cell proliferation in response to ECS (paper I), BrdUlabeled cells in the mid-hypothalamus were quantified in five major nuclei; PVN, SON, ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus (VMH), arcuate nucleus (ArcN), and dorsomedial nucleus (DMH). The PVN was subdivided into the parvocellular and magnocellular areas, identified by their characteristic

neuronal cell size. The total number of BrdU-labeled cells as well as the number of proliferating endothelial cells (BrdU/RECA-1-labeled cells) were determined in each area.

In paper II, glial cells double-positive for MHC II/Iba-1, ED1/Iba-1 and nestin/GFAP, respectively, were quantified in the prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, hypothalamus, piriform, and entorhinal cortex. In paper III, the number of cells double-positive for laminin and CD163, CD4, or MHC II, respectively, were determined in five different subregions of the middorsal hippocampus; granular cell layer (GCL), hilus, molecular layer (ML), CA1, and CA2/CA3. For all cell quantifications, we used "modified unbiased stereology" (Malberg et al., 2000), thus, we identified all regions by anatomically landmarks (according to Paxinos and Watson 1986) and analyzed sections with the same sampling frequency. All cell numbers were averaged and expressed as cell numbers per section.

Characterization and quantification of cells using brightfield microscopy

The number of c-Fos(+) cells in paper I was determined through computerassisted image analysis (ImageJ version 1.34s, NIH Image, NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA). Three sections per animal and hypothalamic nuclei were photographed at 20x with an Olympus AX70 brightfield microscope (Olympus Optical). The sections were carefully selected to represent the same position relative to bregma for each animal and nuclei. The image analysis program was set to count the number of c-Fos(+) cells in each mid-hypothalamic nucleus.

In paper II, the morphology of cells labeled with Iba-1, GFAP and NG2 respectively, was analyzed in different limbic regions (prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, hypothalamus, piriform, and entorhinal cortex) with an Olympus AX70 brightfield microscope. The sections were coded; thus, the person evaluating cell morphology was blinded to the treatment group.

TUNEL-stained apoptotic cells (paper IV) were counted in the GCL, hilus, ML, CA1, and CA2-3 regions of the hippocampus using an Olympus AX70 light microscope with a 40x objective. The same "modified unbiased stereology" method as described above was used. All counts were pooled together for each rat and region and reported as the mean cell number per section.

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as means ± standard error of the mean for papers I, III, and IV. Differences in endothelial cell proliferation and c-Fos expression were

analyzed using Student's t-test (paper I), while one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) followed by Fisher's PLSD post hoc test was used in paper III. Two-way ANOVA was used to test the effect of lithium- and ECStreatments on the number of TUNEL-positive cells and performance in the MWM probe trial in paper IV. Repeated-measures ANOVA was used to assess differences in seizure length (papers II and IV) as well as escape latency during MWM learning trials (paper IV). Because of the unequal variances between groups, differences in cell numbers in paper II were analyzed using the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by Dunn's post hoc test for multiple pairwise comparisons. These values are presented as boxplots revealing the sample minimum, the 25th percentile, the median, the 75th percentile, and the sample maximum of all groups.

Statistical significance was set at $p \le 0.05$ for all studies. Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's tests (paper II) were performed using Matlab software. All other statistical analyses were performed with Statview software, version 5.0 (Abacus Concepts, Berkeley, CA, USA).

RESULTS AND COMMENTS

ECS-induced endothelial cell proliferation is region-specific and correlates with neuronal activation in the hypothalamus (paper I)

Our group had previously shown that ECS enhances endothelial cell proliferation in the hippocampus concomitant with an increase in neurogenesis (Hellsten et al., 2004). Angiogenesis have also been demonstrated in other brain areas following an intense neuronal activity (Black et al., 1987; Black et al., 1990) and ECS has been shown to induce neuronal activation in several specific limbic nuclei (Samoriski et al., 1997). This has raised the question as to whether ECS-induced endothelial cell proliferation occurs in brain regions outside the hippocampus, and if such an angiogenic response could be correlated to neuronal activation. The important role of the hypothalamus in the pathophysiology of depression led us to investigate endothelial cell proliferation and its possible relationship to neuronal activation following ECS in the major mid-hypothalamic subnuclei (PVN, SON, VMH, ArcN, DMH).

To analyze the pattern of neuronal activation after ECS, rats were given one ECS treatment daily for 1, 5, or 10 days and were killed 2 h after the last ECS treatment. Neuronal activation was analyzed by measuring the expression of the immediate early gene c-Fos. To assess cell proliferation, rats were given BrdU (which labels dividing cells) during a course of five ECS treatments. We detected a basal proliferation of endothelial cells in control animals in the PVN, SON and to a lower extent in the VMH. In rats treated with ECS, the proliferation was increased two-to threefold in the PVN and SON, and more than 20-fold in the VMH, but no significant increase was seen in the ArcN or DMH. The fraction of dividing endothelial cells constituted approximately 75% of all proliferating cells in the PVN and SON in both control- and ECStreated animals. In the VMH of control rats, only 10% of the dividing cells were endothelial cells, but this fraction increased to nearly 60% after ECS treatment. ECS treatment gave rise to increased numbers of activated neurons in all hypothalamic nuclei investigated, but the strongest increase was seen in the VMH (20-fold), followed by the PVN and SON (sevenfold) and

then the ArcN and DMH (two-to threefold). We also confirmed that the c-Fos expressing cells were indeed neurons and not endothelial or glial cells.

To summarize, there seems to be a convincing correlation between the hypothalamic endothelial cell proliferation and neuronal activation in response to ECS, both spatially and in regard to the magnitude of proliferation and activation.

ECS gave rise to a low-grade glial cell activation in several limbic regions of the brain, but this was not dependent on the stimulus parameters (paper II)

The cognitive side effects of ECT have raised concern as to whether ECT can cause cellular damage in vulnerable brain regions. Cellular damage is followed by an inflammatory reaction, seen as an activation of glial cells that proliferate, go through morphological alterations, and aquire novel skills in response to insult (Raivich et al., 1999; Butt et al., 2002; Hampton et al., 2004). The angiogenic response is another important aspect of the inflammatory process, and inflammatory mediators have been shown to directly or indirectly promote angiogenesis (Jackson et al., 1997). Previous work by our group, which had shown that ECS increases endothelial cell proliferation in the hippocampus (Hellsten et al., 2004) and hypothalamus (paper I), as well as gliogenesis in the hippocampus (Wennström et al., 2003) and amygdala (Wennström et al., 2004), prompted us to further characterize glial cell activation in response to ECS in the limbic system (prefrontal cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, hypothalamus, piriform cortex, and entorhinal cortex). Could the gliogenesis and angiogenesis seen following ECS be part of an inflammatory reaction? Studies have lately shown that ECT with shorter electrical pulse width gives rise to less cognitive side effects (Sackeim et al., 2008). We hypothesized that less adverse effects might be reflected in the intensity of glial cell activation. Thus, in addition we wanted to investigate whether a shorter pulse width could attenuate any glial cell activation.

Rats were given a course of 10 ECS-treatments, with two different sets of stimulus parameters, and were killed either 2 h or 4 weeks after the last ECS treatment. Glial cell activation was evaluated by morphological alterations of microglia, astrocytes, and NG2(+) cells, and immunoreactivity for the widely used inflammatory markers MHC II and ED1 in microglial cells and for nestin in astrocytes.

We observed morphological changes of microglia, astrocytes and NG2(+) cells at 2 h following ECS, with the most pronounced alterations seen in the hippocampus and piriform cortex. Microglia underwent the most marked morphological changes, while the alterations of the NG2(+) cells were very subtle. Four weeks later, glial cell morphology in ECS-treated rats could not be distinguished from that of control animals.

No or single scattered MHC II(+) microglia were found in the control animals, but 2 h following ECS, there were elevated numbers of MHC(+) cells in all investigated regions except the hypothalamus. The highest density of MHC(+) microglia was found in the SGZ, hilus, and CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus. After 4 weeks, the levels of MHC(+) microglia almost had returned to control levels, but a slight elevation of MHC(+) cells in the hippocampus of ECS-treated rats remained.

ED1 is expressed by phagocytic microglia, and was found sparsely in shamtreated animals. Two hours after ECS-treatment, there was a slight increase in the expression of ED1 in hippocampal microglia, preferentially seen along the SGZ and in the CA1 and CA3 regions. The ED1 expression was seen as small granules in the microglial cell bodies, and most ED1(+) microglia had the morphology typical of intermediate activated microglia (Lehrmann et al., 1997). No differences in ED1 expression was found between control animals and animals killed 4 weeks after ECS treatment.

Nestin is an intermediate filament type IV protein expressed by activated astrocytes. In sham-treated animals, no or very few activated astrocytes were found. Two hours after ECS treatment, there was a marked increase of nestin(+) astrocytes in the prefrontal cortex, piriform cortex, entorhinal cortex, and the hippocampus. The activated cells were most abundant in the piriform and entorhinal cortex, where a large fraction of the astrocytes expressed nestin. However, 4 weeks after the ECS treatment, no significant differences in the number of nestin(+) astrocytes were seen compared with control animals.

The two sets of ECS stimulus parameters used in the study gave rise to similar patterns of glial cell activation. In general, stimulation using a short pulse width (ECS_s), induced slightly higher numbers of activated glial cells, but there were no statistically significant differences between the ECS groups, except for in hypothalamus. Here, the expression of nestin was significantly higher for the ECS group with long pulse width (ECS_L), compared to ECS_S. However, since the numbers of nestin(+) astrocytes in the hypothalamus were very low (in avarage 0.4 cells per section), no clear conclusions can be effectively drawn from this analysis.

In conclusion, in paper II we show that a course of 10 ECS treatments gives rise to moderate glial cell activation, seen as morphological alterations in the glial cells and an upregulation of certain inflammatory markers. The activation of microglia was most pronounced in the hippocampus, while most activated astrocytes were found in the piriform and entorhinal cortex. The intensity of glial cell activation was not dependent on the different sets of stimulus parameters.

The number of peripheral macrophages adhering to vessels in the hippocampus is increased following ECS (paper III)

The results from paper II clearly demonstrate that ECS-treatment leads to a low-grade inflammatory response in most limbic regions. Many glial cell reactions include recruitment and infiltration of blood-derived immune cells, such as monocytes/macrophages and lymphocytes. We now wanted to determine whether such leukocyte recruitment and infiltration also occurred in response to ECS. Because we had shown that the microglial response following ECS was most intense in the hippocampus, we chose to investigate this region.

Rats were given one ECS treatment daily for 10 consecutive days, and were then allowed to survive for 2 h, 2 days, 4 days, or 8 days after the last ECS treatment. Recruitment and infiltration of macrophages were estimated by analyzing the location and numbers of cells expressing CD163 – a widely used macrophage marker. In control animals, we found several CD163(+) macrophages within the vasculature, but no CD163(+) cells within the brain parenchyma. At all the investigated time points following ECS, there was a significant increase, by approximately 30%, of the vessel-associated macrophages, but there were no signs of further migration into the brain parenchyma of these CD163(+) cells. In addition, we analyzed the number of CD4(+) and MHC II(+) cells within the hippocampal vasculature. CD4 is expressed by T helper cells and T regulatory cells, but can also be expressed by monocytes, macrophages, and activated microglia. We saw extremely few CD4(+) cells with the small round morphology that is typical of T lymphocytes. Instead, the CD4(+) cells had a morphology similar to the CD163(+) cells, suggesting that the CD4(+) cells in our study might be macrophages and not T lymphocytes. ECS increased the number of CD4(+) cells by around 30% compared with baseline levels in control animals, just as for the number of CD163(+) cells. In ECS-treated animals, we also found CD4(+) cells within the brain parenchyma, preferentially in the hilus of the

hippocampus. However, these cells had the morphology of microglia, and could be activated microglia and not infiltrating macrophages. ECS further gave rise to a marked but transient increase in the number of MHC II(+) cells within the blood vessel wall. The number of these cells had returned to baseline levels 8 days after the course of ECS.

To summarize, we show in study III that the inflammatory response to ECS includes recruitment of macrophages to the hippocampus, but that no convincing signs of CD4(+) T lymphocytes or tissue infiltration were detected.

No effect of COX-2 inhibitors on memory performance after ECS (unpublished data)

In the previous papers (II and III), we have shown that ECS induces a mild inflammatory reaction, seen as modest glial cell activation in limbic areas and increased macrophage recruitment in the hippocampus. We next wanted to find out whether this low-grade inflammatory response could be associated with the adverse effects of ECS.

Inflammation has been associated with memory deficits in several other conditions, such as Alzheimer's disease (Agostinho et al., 2010) and multiple sclerosis (Mandolesi et al., 2010). Moreover, others have shown that ECSinduced retrograde amnesia is attenuated in rats treated with antiinflammatory COX inhibitors such as indomethacin and celecoxib (Rao et al., 2002; Andrade et al., 2008a). ECS upregulates COX-2 activity, and has been suggested to impair learning and memory (Andrade et al., 2008b). We reasoned that the COX-inhibitors might prevent the ECS-induced memory deficits through a concomitant attenuation of the low-grade inflammatory response. Thus, we performed repeated experiments where rats were treated with ECS and celecoxib simultaneously. We analyzed their memory performance in the MWM and the glial cell activation in the hippocampus, but our results were inconclusive. ECS clearly impaired retrograde memory, but there was no significant attenuation of the retrograde amnesia when celecoxib was administered. Neither could we see any clear effect on the ECSinduced glial cell activation in the hippocampus of celecoxib-treated rats. We came to the conclusion that we could not, in our model of ECT, repeat the results by Andrade et al., (2008a), regarding attenuation of memory disturbances through administration of celecoxib.

Lithium prevents the memory deficits induced by ECS, but there is no clear correlation to glial cell activation or cell death (paper IV and unpublished data)

After the negative results with celecoxib, we searched for another agent that has the potential to reduce the glial cell activation and attenuate the ECS-induced retrograde amnesia. Lithium is the classic therapeutic treatment for bipolar disorder and has been proven to exert neuroprotective and neurotrophic actions and a broad range of anti-inflammatory effects (Beurel et al., 2010; Quiroz et al., 2010). It has been shown that lithium abolishes memory disturbances in an animal model of stroke (Yan et al., 2007), in chronic stress (Vasconcellos et al., 2003), and after brain injury (Zhu et al., 2010). This memory protective effect has been suggested to be linked to attenuated cell death in hippocampus (Yan et al., 2007). We hypothesized that lithium might attenuate ECS-induced amnesia, possibly through decreasing the inflammatory response and/or hippocampal cell death.

We conducted two studies-a "retrograde memory study" and an "anterograde memory study"-where lithium administration was begun 10 days prior to a course of five ECS treatments. To assess retrograde amnesia, the rats were trained to localize a hidden platform in a water maze with the aid of extramaze visual cues before the ECS treatments started. One day after the last ECS treatment, their ability to remember the platform location was tested. The results clearly showed that rats given ECS did not remember the platform location, but that cotreatment with lithium abolished the ECSinduced retrograde memory disturbances. That the ECS-treated rats did not behave as naïve animals – they swam more in the center of the pool than along the pool wall - suggests that ECS impairs spatial memory, but not necessarily the memory of the task per se. To assess anterograde memory, the water maze training started 3 days after the ECS course. The course of progress made in learning for the ECS or lithium groups did not differ from the control group in escape latency or distance swum. Neither did we see any differences between the groups in the test probe following 8 days of training.

To investigate whether the memory-sparing effect of lithium is associated with attenuated cell death and glial cell activation, we performed immunohistochemical stainings on the brain tissue from the retrograde study. Two-way ANOVA analyses on TUNEL staining data revealed a slight increase of apoptotic cell death in the CA regions following ECS, and in the ML in lithium-treated animals. Group comparisons using one-way ANOVA showed no differences in apoptosis when the whole hippocampal region was

analysed. In one subregion, the ML, rats simultaneously treated with ECS and lithium had increased apoptotic cell death compared with the nonlithium treated groups. However, it should be noted that there were very few apoptotic cells regardless of treatment (2–3 per section in the entire hippocampus).

There was a general and significant increase in nestin(+) astrocytes in the hippocampus following ECS, in accordance with the results from paper II. However, lithium treatment in combination with ECS resulted in an increased nestin expression in hippocampal astrocytes (ECS + litium 58 ± 7 ; ECS 29 ± 9 ; p < 0.0001) compared with ECS treatment alone. Analysis of subregions revealed increases in hilus (ECS + litium 19 ± 2 ; ECS 8 ± 2 ; p < 0.0001) and in ML (ECS + litium 23 ± 3 ; ECS 9 ± 6 ; p < 0.001) (unpublished data).

MHC II was increased after ECS in all hippocampal subregions, also in line with paper II, but no differences between the ECS group and the ECS + lithium group were found (unpublished data).

In summary, we have shown that lithium treatment in combination with ECS clearly prevents spatial retrograde amnesia, but that ECS and lithium – alone or in combination – have no significant effect on anterograde memory. In addition, we have shown that microglial MHC II expression is unchanged, while apoptotic cell death and astrocytic nestin expression are slightly increased in hippocampal subregions, when lithium is given in combination with ECS.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

In the current thesis, we have investigated previously unknown cellular changes following ECS, and further found a novel approach to attenuate ECSinduced memory deficits. First, we show that ECS stimulated angiogenesis in certain hypothalamic subnuclei, and that this correlated with an increased neuronal activity. Possible implications of an increased endothelial cell proliferation were considered. The enhanced endothelial cell proliferation might lead to an expansion of the vascular tree to adapt to an increased metabolic need. The newly formed endothelial cells might also palay an important role in a local multicellular cross talk. The question of whether the angiogenic response to ECS is part of an inflammatory reaction was also raised. The following studies in this thesis examined this last question in somewhat more detail, and glial cell activation and recruitment of blood borne macrophages were analysed. In addition, we investigated whether two sets of ECS stimulus parameters affected the glial cell activation differentially, but no such difference was found. Next, we aimed to block the glial cell reaction to ECS and test whether the ECS-induced memory deficits concomitantly could be attenuated. We failed to see any clear effects on glial cell activation or spatial memory of the anti-inflammatory substance celecoxib, but found that treatment with the neuroprotective and antiinflammatory agent lithium abolished ECS-induced amnesia. To our surprise, the glial cell activation and the minimal increase in apoptotic cell death following ECS were unchanged or even elevated when cotreatment with lithium was given. The following discussion will first assess the plausible implications of an increased endothelial cell proliferation and then turn to possible functions of the ECS-induced glial cell activation and macrophage recruitment. Finally, the actions of lithium on the amnestic effects of ECS/ECT will be addressed.

Possible functions of the ECS-induced increase in hypothalamic endothelial cell proliferation

We have shown that endothelial cell proliferation and neuronal activity are increased by ECS in specific hypothalamic nuclei in a correlated way: the

more neuronal activity, as measured by c-Fos expression, the more endothelial cell proliferation. Endothelial cell proliferation, leading to the formation of new blood vessels, is known to occur during development, in physiological situations when the metabolic demand exceeds the availability, and during repair and regrowth in pathological conditions.

Vascular expansion to meet an increased metabolic demand

We have previously reported that ECS-induced endothelial cell proliferation in the hippocampus leads to a subsequent increase in vascular density (Hellsten et al., 2005). Thus, it is plausible that the increased hypothalamic endothelial cell proliferation following ECS also contributes to vessel growth. The basic function of blood vessels is to supply oxygen and nutrients to the tissue. The observed enhancement of endothelial cell proliferation may reflect an adaptation to an increased metabolic demand, following the neuronal activation induced by ECS. Similar angiogenic processes have been demonstrated in other brain regions, following increased neuronal activation through physical exercise, increased sensory input and environmental enrichment - a widely used animal model of experience-induced plasticity (Black et al., 1987; Black et al., 1990; Swain et al., 2003; Ding et al., 2004; Ekstrand et al., 2008).

Endothelial cells as part of a multicellular cross talk

Apart from serving as building blocks of blood vessels, endothelial cells have been shown to communicate with other cell types, as part of a "neurovascular unit" (Lok et al., 2007). This functional unit includes neurons, glial cells, and endothelial cells, that all interact with each other through positive and negative feedback mechanisms (Lo et al., 2004; Hawkins and Davis, 2005; Allan, 2006). It is possible that the hypothalamic neuronal activation and endothelial cell proliferation we observed following ECS are two independently triggered events, but there may also be a reciprocal cross talk between endothelial cells and neurons that synchronize their activity. ECS induces the expression of many growth factors and neuropeptides such as VEGF, BDNF, NPY, and FGF-2; all with both neurogenic and angiogenic properties (Nibuya et al., 1995; Zachrisson et al., 1995; Kondratyev et al., 2001; Newton et al., 2003; Altar et al., 2004). Indeed, the processes of neurogenesis and angiogenesis have many commonalities in addition to shared growth factors and receptors, including cell migration, and cell differentiation (Carmeliet, 2008). Neurogenesis has further been shown to occur in a vascular niche, where neuronal precursors divide in close

proximity to proliferating endothelial cells (Palmer et al., 2000). The hypothalamus is generally not considered to be a neurogenic zone, but postnatal neurogenesis has been demonstrated in the adult hypothalamus of several species (Pencea et al., 2001; Fowler et al., 2002; Kokoeva et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2005; Kokoeva et al., 2007; Migaud et al., 2009; Pérez-Martín et al., 2010), although not vet described in nonhuman primates or humans. Similarly to the neurogenesis in the SVZ and SGZ, the adult hypothalamic neurogenesis process can be modulated by various physiological and pharmacological stimuli (Pencea et al., 2001; Kokoeva et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2005; Matsuzaki et al., 2009; Pérez-Martín et al., 2010). However, whether ECS induces neurogenesis in the hypothalamus is yet to be investigated. Endothelial cells have also been shown to be important regulators of neuronal and glial function in other ways. De Seranno et al., (2004) has reported that endothelial cells directly influence hormone release from neurosecretory axons in the hypothalamic median eminence by regulating to which extent specialized glial cells wrap around the nerve endings, releasing hormone into the blood stream. Another study showed that endothelial cells are able to depolarize neuronal axons through production of nitric oxide in *vitro* (Garthwaite et al., 2006). It is tempting to speculate that the increase in endothelial cell numbers could play a role in the cellular interplay that may assist in mediating the therapeutic effects of ECT.

Increased endothelial cell proliferation in brain regions implicated in depression

The ECS-induced increase in endothelial cell proliferation was region-specific and only seen in the PVN, the SON and the VMH of the mid-hypothalamus. As described in the introduction, the hypothalamus is thought to play a key role in the pathophysiology of depression, and hyperactivity of the HPA axis is perhaps the most acknowledged neuroendocrine dysfunction in depression. The HPA axis is controlled from the parvocellular neurons of the PVN, which release CRH and AVP into the hypothalamo-pituitary portal system. ACTH is subsequently released from the pituitary gland into the blood stream, stimulating cortisol release from the adrenal cortex. The PVN also consists of magnocellular neurons, which together with the magnocellular neurons of the SON project to the posterior pituitary where they release oxytocin and AVP. ECS increased the endothelial cell proliferation two- to threefold within both the magnocellular and parvocellular areas. In the VMH, the endothelial cell proliferation following ECS was increased twenty-fold, and the fraction of dividing endothelial cells increased from 10% to approximately 60% of the total number of proliferating cells. The VMH is involved in the regulation of

appetite, and neurons in this region secrete NPY (Dube et al., 1995). Plasma levels of NPY are reduced in patients with major depression (Hashimoto et al., 1996) and ECT is known to increase the production of NPY (Stenfors et al., 1989). Interestingly, NPY also has angiogenic properties, suggesting that the strong increase in endothelial cell proliferation following ECS in the VMH may be caused by the release of NPY.

Angiogenesis as part of an inflammatory reaction

Enhanced cerebral angiogenesis is also seen in pathological conditions such as brain injury (Frontczak-Baniewicz and Walski, 2002), stroke (Greenberg, 1998) and epilepsy (Rigau et al., 2007). These are all conditions where normal oxygen and glucose homeostasis is compromised, and angiogenesis is triggered in an attempt to alleviate the detrimental effects of the trauma. Such insults often lead to massive neuronal death and an accompanying inflammatory reaction (Fujikawa, 2005; Vezzani and Granata, 2005; Doyle et al., 2008; Kriz and Lalancette-Hébert, 2009; Wang and Qin, 2010) There are several factors that coregulate angiogenesis and inflammation. For example, VEGF and COX-2, both markedly upregulated following ECS (Newton et al., 2003), are known to be angiogenic as well as inflammatory mediators (Croll et al., 2004; Patrignani et al., 2005). We considered that the angiogenic response to ECS might be part of an inflammatory reaction and thus investigated the expression of a few but well established markers for glial cell activation (MHC II, ED1, and nestin) in several limbic regions including the hypothalamus. However, we were not able to detect an increased expression of MHC II or ED1 in the hypothalamus. There was a statistically significant increased expression of nestin following one of the ECS protocols (ECSL), but because the number of the nestin(+) astrocytes was extremely low, no clear conclusions could be correctly drawn from this analysis. Although we cannot account for the possible presence of other markers of inflammation, our findings speaks in favor of an endothelial cell proliferation uncoupled from an inflammatory response.

The glial cell response to ECS - associated with cell damage and/or brain plasticity?

Is the glial cell reaction reflecting cell death?

In study II, we show that ECS – regardless of which of the two different stimulus parameters used – induces a glial cell response in all investigated limbic regions, except the hypothalamus. This glial cell response was

characterized by morphological alterations and an increased expression of ED1, MHC II, and nestin, widely used as markers of glial cell activation (Pekny and Nilsson, 2005; Graeber and Streit, 2010). In study III, we further show that ECS enhances macrophage recruitment to hippocampal blood vessels. The response of glial cells, and microglia in particular, depends on the severity of insult and results in numerous intermediate states of activation. The glial cell activation following ECS appears to be very subtle. For instance, compared with a rat model of epilepsy, where a prolonged (> 30 minutes) generalized grand mal seizure (status epilepticus) was induced and hippocampal neuronal damage was widespread, the profile of glial cell activation in response to ECS was very different. Several weeks after the induction of status epilepticus, the majority of microglia in the hippocampus were phagocytic, i.e. expressing ED1, and had an amoeboid morphology (Bonde et al., 2006). Two hours after a course of ten ECS, we observed around ten ED1/Iba-1(+) cells with intermediate activated morphology per total hippocampus.

Nevertheless, the slight increase in ED1-expressing microglia in the hippocampus of ECS-treated animals is consistent with local phagocytosis of cellular debris. We found a small, but significant increase in apoptotic cell death following a course of five ECS treatments in the CA regions of the hippocampus (study IV). Although the number of apoptotic cells was very low for all groups, it should be remembered that apoptosis is a rapid process (1–3 h from initiation to cell elimination) and thus difficult to survey (Gavrieli et al., 1992). The TUNEL method only detects cells that are apoptotic at the moment of perfusion, and we cannot exclude higher levels of apoptosis at other time points after a course of ECS.

A generalized grand mal seizure is associated with massive release of glutamate. Excessive stimulation of glutamate receptors can induce neuronal cell death or damage through excitotoxicity (Olney, 1969), and the neurons of the hippocampus, piriform cortex and entorhinal cortex are particular vulnerable to seizures (Loscher and Ebert, 1996; Scharfman, 2000). As previously mentioned, most studies show that there is no cell loss or damage after ECS (Coffey et al., 1991; Devanand et al., 1994; Dalby et al., 1996; Ende et al., 2000; Zachrisson et al., 2000; Dwork et al., 2004; Busnello et al., 2006; Dwork et al., 2009; Palmio et al., 2010). However, there are a few reports showing that ECS can induce neuronal loss in the entorhinal cortex and the hippocampus (Lukoyanov et al., 2004; Zarubenko et al., 2005; Cardodso et al., 2008). It should be noted however, that the studies by Lukoyanov et al., (2004) and Cardoso et al., (2008) used an ECS paradigm with only 2 h spacing between the two last ECS treatments in order to maximize the extracellular glutamate levels and thus increase the vulnerability of the neurons to

excitotoxic damage (Rowley et al., 1997). However, in the study by Zarubenko et al., (2005), a seemingly standard ECS protocol was used, with 8 ECS treatments given 48 h apart. Thus, it seems that under certain circumstances, ECS can cause neuronal loss.

Could the ECS-induced neuroimmunological mechanisms be involved in brain plasticity?

Enhanced brain plasticity, including stimulation of neurogenesis, gliogenesis, angiogenesis, synaptic reorganization and axonal sprouting, has been reported in response to ECS. It has become increasingly evident that the immune system plays a central role in neural plasticity (for review see Yirmiya and Goshen, 2011). It is tempting to speculate that the ECS-induced activation of microglia – the intrinsic immune cells of the brain – might be associated with the processes of neural plasticity.

Microglia have been referred to as "the electricians of the brain" (Graeber and Streit, 2010), and proposed to have an instructive and supportive role in neurogenesis as well as a role in synaptic plasticity (Walton et al., 2006; Cullheim and Thams, 2007; Thored et al., 2009). A role of microglia in synapse elimination was first suggested by Blinzinger and Kreutzberg, (1968) in their report on microglia-mediated synaptic stripping of axotomized facial motoneurons. More recent studies corroborate these early findings by showing that the highly branched processes of microglia in the healthy brain make transient connections with neuronal synapses, and that this microgliasynapse contact is prolonged following ischemic insult, resulting in synaptic elimination (Wake et al., 2009). Activated microglia have also been shown to contribute to synaptic stripping of cortical neurons after an inflammatory lesion (Trapp et al., 2007). Synaptic stripping leads to a reduction of synaptic activity (Yamada et al., 2008) and a functional impairment of neuronal circuits (Graeber et al., 1993), but helps promote regrowth and remapping of damaged neural circuitry (Gehrmann et al., 1995). ECS has been shown to influence the expression of synaptic vesicle protein and increase the total number of hippocampal synapses (Elfving et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2009). On the other hand, Cardoso et al., (2008) showed that ECS, when given as previously described with 2 hours between the last two ECS-treatments, led to a reduced number of synapses in the entorhinal cortex. It is plausible that activated microglia may be involved in ECS-induced synaptic reorganization (Trapp et al., 2007).

Astrocytes have also been shown to play an important role in neural and synaptic functioning (Volterra and Meldolesi, 2005; Halassa and Haydon,

2010; Henneberger and Rusakov, 2010). Astrocytic processes ensheath most synapses in the brain, express receptors for several neurotransmitters and secrete various gliotransmitters that modulate neuronal excitability and synaptic strength (Perea and Araque, 2007; Halassa and Haydon, 2010). There seems to be a close correlation between changes in astrocyte morphology and synape formation (Jones and Greenough, 1996; Ullian et al., 2001). To protect neurons from excessive levels of glutamate, surrounding astrocytes rapidly remove glutamate at the synaptic cleft via excitatory amino acid transporters (Bernardinelli et al., 2004; Benarroch, 2005).

Besides taking part in synapse remodeling, microglia in the adult brain have been proposed to be involved in the process of neurogenesis (Ekdahl et al., 2009). In vivo evidences suggests that activated microglia regulate neurogenesis in the hippocampus (Battista et al., 2006; Ziv et al., 2006), and in an *in vitro* model of neural stem cell coculture with microglial cells or microglia-conditioned medium, microglia provided secreted factors essential for neurogenesis (Walton et al., 2006). On the other hand, blockade of microglia activation has been shown to restore neurogenesis after cranial irradiation (Monje et al., 2003). The unique profile of inflammatory factors, depending on the severity of inflammation, can have varying consequences on neurogenesis (Whitney et al., 2009). The discrepancies between the pro- and antineurogenic properties of inflammation may depend on the means by which microglia, macrophages, and astrocytes are activated, as well as the duration of the inflammation. For instance, microglia activated by systemic LPS injection have been reported to reduce neurogenesis (Ekdahl et al., 2003) while IL-4 activated microglia promote neurogenesis (Butovsky et al., 2006). Ziv et al., (2006) demonstrated that environmental enrichment stimulated microglia to express MHC II, and proposed that this specific microglia phenotype was required for the concomitant increase in neurogenesis, through the activation of T lymphocytes. The impact of CD4(+) T lymphocytes on neurogenesis have been supported by others (Wolf et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2010), but contradictive results have shown that mice subjected to running had a dramatic increase in neurogenesis, although no signs of MHC II(+) microglia were found in the region (Olah et al., 2009). The exact microglial phenotype induced by ECS, and whether the expression of MHC II may be a requisite for the ECS-induced increase in neuronal proliferation, differentiation, integration and/or survival, remains to be determined however.

In addition to assisting microglia in the clearance of dead cells and debris, blood-recruited macrophages have been suggested to mediate neuroprotection and support neurogenesis (Borders et al., 2007; London et al., 2011). The recruited macrophages following ECS in our study were

defined by their expression of CD163. Interestingly, the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 has been reported to strongly upregulate CD163 mRNA in monocytes and macrophages, while pro-inflammatory mediators, such as IFN- γ , LPS and TNF- α , have been reported to suppress CD163 expression (Buechler et al., 2000). Consequently, CD163 has been indicated as a possible marker for so-called alternatively activated macrophages (M2), which have been suggested to possess immunosuppressive activity (Gordon, 2003; Mosser, 2003; Verreck et al., 2006).

So far, we have discussed whether the glial cell response to ECS might reflect cell death and/or assist in the process of neural plasticity. It should also be considered, however, that a small amount of cell death might be a natural part of the neural plasticity process. It is possible that increased apoptosis in response to ECS might reflect the enhanced cell proliferation, as in an increased cell turnover (Gould et al., 2001). This means that despite an enhanced cell death, the total number of cells might still be increased if the level of newly born cells exceeds the level of apoptosis.

Protection against ECS-induced retrograde amnesia

In study IV, we show that a course of 5 ECS impairs retrograde spatial memory, evaluated by the Morris water maze test and in line with previous studies (Andrade et al., 2008a; Yao et al., 2010). However we found no significant anterograde amnesia following ECS, although others show learning deficits after ECS (Khan et al., 1994; Lukoyanov et al., 2004). Andrade et al., (2008a) have reported that anti-inflammatory COX-2 blockade with celecoxib abolishes ECS-induced memory deficits. The authors suggested that celecoxib protect against ECS-induced retrograde amnesia by attenuating ECS-induced COX-2-mediated glutamatergic excitotoxicity. In their study, a passive avoidance test was used to assess retrograde amnesia. We hypothesized that COX-2 inhibition in addition to protecting against retrograde amnesia might reduce the ECS-induced glial cell activation through downregulation of inflammatory mediators. However, we could see neither any reduced glial cell activation nor any protective effect of celecoxib on retrograde memory when testing the animals in Morris water maze. The discrepancies in results may depend on the different memory tests or other variations in the experimental design.

Lithium-induced attenuation of ECS-induced retrograde amnesia

Treatment with lithium in rodent models has been shown to protect against memory deficits induced by stroke (Yan et al., 2007), traumatic brain injury (Zhu et al., 2010) and chronic stress (Vasconcellos et al., 2003). Furthermore, lithium alone has been demonstrated to enhance spatial working memory and promote long-term retention, and was consequently suggested as a potential cognitive enhancer (Tsaltas et al., 2007). It has been proposed that lithium exerts its protective effects on cognition through reducing neurodegeneration by upregulating neurotrophic factors and antiapoptotic factors and downregulating proapoptotic agents and proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β (Yan et a 2007; Zhu et al., 2010). Lithium has further been shown to attenuate proinflammatory and enhance antiinflammatory properties of microglia (Yuskaitis and Jope, 2009). We show in paper IV, that lithium treatment abolishes the ECS-induced retrograde memory disturbances. We investigated whether this was associated with changes in hippocampal apoptotic cell death or glial cell activation. ECS and lithium individually increased apoptotic cell death in separate subregions of the hippocampus (the CA regions and ML, respectively), and group comparisons revealed that lithium in combination with ECS slightly enhance the apoptotic cell death in the ML of hippocampus. A significant increase of nestinexpressing astrocytes was also found in the hilus and ML in animals cotreated with lithium and ECS, but the number of MHC II(+) microglia was unchanged. Thus, lithium appears to exert protective effects against ECS-induced amnesia without reducing apoptosis or attenuating the glial cell response, which also indicates that the amnestic effects of ECS may be independent of these mechanisms.

The memory impairments following ECS has been proposed to depend on glutamate release and induction of long term potentiation (LTP) in an indiscriminative manner, which disrupts the delicately controlled synaptic remodeling required for learning (Reid and Stewart, 1997; Brun et al., 2001). This theory is supported by the findings that NMDA receptor antagonists and calcium channel blockers reduce ECS-induced amnesia (Stewart and Reid, 1994; Zupan et al., 1996; Krystal et al., 2003). Lithium treatment has also been shown to reduce glutamate-mediated Ca2+ response in hippocampal neurons (Nonaka et al., 1998; Sourial-Bassillious et al., 2009), and it is plausible that inhibition of ECS-induced excessive Ca2+ influx may attenuate the saturation of the LTP system, thus leaving the system intact. However, lithium modulates a variety of different biochemical pathways, and further investigation of lithium's actions on the glutamatergic system is needed for a better understanding of its protective effect.

Excessive postictal confusion and prolonged awakening time when combining ECT with lithium treatment have raised some concerns (Hoenig and Chaulk, 1977; Small et al., 1980), but there are several new reports of safe concurrent treatment (Dolenc and Rasmussen, 2005; Thirthalli et al., 2010). Our findings suggest that lithium has potential as an agent for attenuation of ECT-induced amnesia.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The results of this thesis show that ECS, an animal model of the antidepressant treatment ECT, induces endothelial cell proliferation in correlation with neuronal activation in specific nuclei of the hypothalamus. This angiogenic process might be a response to an increased metabolic demand following intense neuronal activation, or a factor contributing to the hypothalamic cellular cross talk, but could also be a part of an inflammatory reaction to ECS. An inflammatory response is partly seen as a glial cell reaction, and it is further demonstrated in this thesis that there is low-grade glial cell activation in several limbic regions and a concomitant recruitment of macrophages to the hippocampus. Such a low-grade glial cell response might reflect the slight increase in apoptosis we found following ECS, but we also propose that the activated glial cells may assist in the process of the ECSinduced brain plasticity, including, for example, neurogenesis, angiogenesis, and synaptic sprouting. Further, we demonstrate in this thesis that lithium treatment attenuates ECS-induced retrograde amnesia, without an accompanying reduction of hippocampal glial cell activation or cell death. Further studies on lithium's effect on ECS-induced amnesia could be of great value for the development of an ECT protocol with less cognitive side effects.

REFERENCES

- Abrams R. Electroconvulsive therapy. 4th edn. Oxford University Press: New York, 2002.
- Agostinho P, Cunha RA, Oliveira C. Neuroinflammation, oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Pharm Des 2010;16(25):2766-78.
- Allan S. The neurovascular unit and the key role of astrocytes in the regulation of cerebral blood flow. Cerebrovasc Dis 2006; 21:137–8.
- Altar CA, Laeng P, Jurata LW, Brockman JA, Lemire A, Bullard J, Bukhman YV, Young TA, Charles V, Palfreyman MG. Electroconvulsive seizures regulate gene expression of distinct neurotrophic signaling pathways. J Neurosci 2004; 24:2667-77.
- American psychiatric Association: Practical guideline for the treatment of patients with major depressive disorder (revision). Am J Psychiatry 2000; 157:1-45.
- Anastasia A, de Erausquin GA, Wojnacki J, Masco DH. Protection of dopaminergic neurons by electroconvulsive shock in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 2007;103(4):1542-52.
- Andrade C, Thyagarajan S, Singh NM, Vinod PS, Sanjay Kumar Rao N, Chandra JS. Celecoxib as an in vivo probe of cyclooxygenase-2 mechanisms underlying retrograde amnesia in an animal model of ECT. J Neural Transm. 2008a;115(7):1063-70.
- Andrade C, Singh NM, Thyagarajan S, Nagaraja N, Sanjay Kumar N, Suresh Chandra J. Possible glutamatergic and lipid signalling mechanisms in ECT-induced retrograde amnesia: experimental evidence for involvement of COX-2, and review of literature. J Psychiatr Res 2008b;42(10):837-50.
- Azuma H, Fujita A, Sato K, Arahata K, Otsuki K, Hori M, Mochida Y, Uchida M, Yamada T, Akechi T, Furukawa TA. Postictal suppression correlates with therapeutic efficacy for depression in bilateral sine and pulse wave electroconvulsive therapy. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2007;61(2):168-73.
- Babigian HM, Guttmacher LB. Epidemiologic considerations in electroconvulsive therapy. Arc Gen Psychiatry 1984;41(3):246-53.
- Balu DT, Hoshaw BA, Malberg JE, Rosenzweig-Lipson S, Schechter LE, Lucki I. Differential regulation of central BDNF protein levels by antidepressant and non-antidepressant drug treatments. Brain Res 2008;1211:37-43.

Bao AM, Meynen G, Swaab DF. The stress system in depression and neurodegeneration: Focus on the human hypothalamus. Brain Res Rev 2008;57(2):531-53.

Battista D, Ferrari CC, Gage FH, Pitossi, FJ. Neurogenic niche modulation by activated microglia: transforming growth factor beta increases neurogenesis in the adult dentate gyrus. Eur J Neurosci 2006;23(1):83–93.

Ben Achour S, Pascual O. Glia: the many ways to modulate synaptic plasticity. Neurochem Int 2010;57(4):440-5.

Benarroch E. Neuron-Astrocyte Interactions: Partnership for Normal Function and Disease in the Central Nervous System, Mayo Foundation 2005;1326–38.

Bernardinelli Y, Magistretti P, Chatton J. Astrocytes generate Na+-mediated metabolic waves. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2004; 101(41):14937–42.

- Berton O, Nestler EJ. New approaches to antidepressant drug discovery: beyond monoamines. Nat Rev Neurosci 2006;7(2):137-51.
- Beurel E, Michalek SM, Jope RS. Innate and adaptive immune responses regulated by glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK3). Trends Immunol 2010;31(1):24-31.
- Black JE, Sirevaag AM, Greenough WT. Complex experience promotes capillary formation in young rat visual cortex. Neurosci Lett 1987;83:351-5.

Black JE, Polinsky M, Greenough WT. Progressive failure of cerebral angiogenesis supporting neural plasticity in aging rats. Neurobiol Aging 1989;10(4):353-8.

Black JE, Isaacs KR, Anderson BJ, Alcantara AA, Greenough WT. Learning causes synaptogenesis, whereas motor activity causes angiogenesis, in cerebellar cortex of adult rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:5568-72.

Blinzinger K, Kreutzberg G. Displacement of synaptic terminals from regenerating motoneurons by microglial cells. Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat 1968;85(2):145-57.

- Bliss TV, Collingridge GL. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 1993; 361(6407):31-9.
- Board F, Persky H, Hamburg DA. Psychological stress and endocrine functions; blood levels of adrenocortical and thyroid hormones in acutely disturbed patients. Psychosom Med 1956;18:324-33.
- Bonde S, Ekdahl CT, Lindvall O. Long-term neuronal replacement in adult rat hippocampus after status epilepticus despite chronic inflammation. Eur J Neurosci 2006;23(4):965-74.
- Borders AS, Hersh MA, Getchell ML, van Rooijen N, Cohen DA, Stromberg AJ, Getchell TV. Macrophage-mediated neuroprotection and neurogenesis in the olfactory epithelium. Physiol Genomics 2007;31(3):531-43.
- Brun VH, Ytterbo K, Morris RG, Moser MB, Moser EI. Retrograde amnesia for spatial memory induced by NMDA receptor-mediated long-term potentiation. J Neurosci 2001;21(1):356-62.

Buechler C, Ritter M, Orsó E, Langmann T, Klucken J, Schmitz G. Regulation of scavenger receptor CD163 expression in human monocytes and

macrophages by pro- and antiinflammatory stimuli. J Leukoc Biol 2000;67(1):97-103.

- Busnello JV, Leke R, Oses JP, Feier G, Bruch R, Quevedo J, Kapczinski F, Souza DO, Cruz Portela LV. Acute and chronic electroconvulsive shock in rats: effects on peripheral markers of neuronal injury and glial activity. Life Sci 2006;78(26):3013-7.
- Butovsky O, Ziv Y, Schwartz A, Landa G, Talpalar AE, Pluchino S, Martino G, Schwartz M. Microglia activated by IL-4 or IFN-gamma differentially induce neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis from adult stem/progenitor cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 2006; 31(1):149-60.
- Butt AM, Kiff J, Hubbard P, Berry M. Synantocytes: new functions for novel NG2 expressing glia. J Neurocytol 2002;31(6-7):551-65.
- Cardoso A, Assuncao M, Andrade JP, Pereira PA, Madeira MD, Paula-Barbosa MM, et al.,. Loss of synapses in the entorhinal-dentate gyrus pathway following repeated induction of electroshock seizures in the rat. J Neurosci Res 2008;86(1):71-83.
- Carmeliet P. Neuro-vascular link: from genetic insights to therapeutic perspectives. Bull Mem Acad R Med Belg 2008;163(10-12):445-51.
- Chen G, Rajkowska G, Du F, Seraji-Bozorgzad N, Manji HK. Enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis by lithium. J Neurochem 2000;75(4):1729-34.
- Chen F, Madsen TM, Wegener G, Nyengaard JR. Repeated electroconvulsive seizures increase the total number of synapses in adult male rat hippocampus. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 2009;19(5):329-38.
- Coffey CE, Weiner RD, Djang WT, Figiel GS, Soady SA, Patterson LJ, et al., Brain anatomic effects of electroconvulsive therapy. A prospective magnetic resonance imaging study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991;48(11):1013-21.
- Cohen MR, Swartz CM. Absence of nimodipine premedication effect on memory after electroconvulsive therapy. Neuropsychobiology 1990;24:165-8.
- Conti G, Gale K, Kondratyev A. Immunohistochemical evaluation of the protein expression of nerve growth factor and its TrkA receptor in rat limbic regions following electroshock seizures. Neurosci Res 2009;65(2):201-9.
- Croll SD, Ransohoff RM, Cai N, Zhang Q, Martin FJ, Wei T, Kasselman LJ, Kintner J, Murphy AJ, Yancopoulos GD, Wiegand SJ. VEGF-mediated inflammation precedes angiogenesis in adult brain. Exp Neurol 2004;187(2):388-402.
- Cullheim S, Thams S. The microglial networks of the brain and their role in neuronal network plasticity after lesion. Brain Res Rev 2007;55(1):89-96.
- Czéh B, Müller-Keuker JI, Rygula R, Abumaria N, Hiemke C, Domenici E, Fuchs E. Chronic social stress inhibits cell proliferation in the adult medial prefrontal cortex: hemispheric asymmetry and reversal by fluoxetine treatment. Neuropsychopharmacology 2007;32(7):1490-503.
- Dalby NO, Tonder N, Wolby DP, West M, Finsen B, Bolwig TG. No loss of hippocampal hilar somatostatinergic neurons after repeated electroconvulsive shock: a

combined stereological and in situ hybridization study. Biol Psychiatry 1996;40(1):54-60.

- De Seranno S, Estrella C, Loyens A, Cornea A, Ojeda SR, Beauvillain JC, Prevot V. Vascular endothelial cells promote acute plasticity in ependymoglial cells of the neuroendocrine brain. J Neurosci 2004;24:10353-63.
- Devanand DP, Dwork AJ, Hutchinson ER, Bolwig TG, Sackeim HA. Does ECT alter brain structure? Am J Psychiatry 1994;151(7):957-70.
- Devanand DP, Lisanby S, Lo ES, Fitzsimons L, Cooper TB, Halbreich U, Sackeim HA. Effects of electroconvulsive therapy on plasma vasopressin and oxytocin. Biol Psychiatry 1998;44:610-6.
- Ding YH, Luan XD, Li J Rafols JA, Guthinkonda M, Diaz FG, Ding Y. Exercise-induced overexpression of angiogenic factors and reduction of ischemia/reperfusion injury in stroke. Curr Neurovasc Res 2004;1(5):411-20.
- Dolenc TJ, Rasmussen KG. The safety of electroconvulsive therapy and lithium in combination: a case series and review of the literature. J ECT 2005;21(3):165-170.
- Donahue AB. Electroconvulsive therapy and memory loss: a personal journey. J ECT 2000;16(2):133–43.
- Doyle KP, Simon RP, Stenzel-Poore MP. Mechanisms of ischemic brain damage. Neuropharmacology 2008;55(3):310-8.
- Drevets WC. Neuroimaging and neuropathological studies of depression: implications for the cognitive-emotional features of mood disorders. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2001;11(2):240–9.
- D'Sa C, Duman RS. Antidepressants and neuroplasticity. Bipolar Disord 2002;4(3):183-94.
- Dube MG, Kalra PS, Crowley WR, Kalra SP. Evidence of a physiological role for neuropeptide Y in ventromedial hypothalamic lesion-induced hyperphagia. Brain Res 1995;690(2):275-8.
- Dubovsky SL, Buzan R, Thomas M, Kassner C, Cullum CM. Nicardipine improves the antidepressant action of ECT but does not improve cognition. J ECT 2001;17(1):3-10.
- Duman RS, Malberg J, Nakagawa S, D'Sa C. Neuronal plasticity and survival in mood disorders. Biol Psychiatry 2000;48(8):732-9.
- Dwork AJ, Arango V, Underwood M, Ilievski B, Rosoklija G, Sackeim HA, Lisanby SH. Absence of histological lesions in primate models of ECT and magnetic seizure therapy. Am J Psychiatry 2004;161(3):576-8.
- Dwork AJ, Christensen JR, Larsen KB, Scalia J, Underwood MD, Arango V, Pakkenberg B, Lisanby SH. Unaltered neuronal and glial counts in animal models of magnetic seizure therapy and electroconvulsive therapy. Neuroscience 2009;164(4):1557-64.
- Ekdahl CT, Claasen JH, Bonde S, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O. Inflammation is detrimental for neurogenesis in adult brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100(23):13632-7.

- Ekdahl CT, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O. Brain inflammation and adult neurogenesis: the dual role of microglia. Neuroscience 2009;158(3):1021–9.
- Ekstrand J, Hellsten J, Tingström A. Environmental enrichment, exercise and corticosterone affect endothelial cell proliferation in adult rat hippocampus and prefrontal cortex. Neurosci Lett 2008;442(3):203-7.
- Elfving B, Bonefeld BE, Rosenberg R, Wegener G. Differential expression of synaptic vesicle proteins after repeated electroconvulsive seizures in rat frontal cortex and hippocampus. Synapse 2008;62(9):662-70.
- Ende G, Braus DF, Walter S, Weber-Fahr W, Henn FA. The hippocampus in patients treated with electroconvulsive therapy: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopic imaging study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000;57(10):937-43.

Fink M. Healing Mental Illness: Electroshock. Oxford University press 1999;85-97.

- Florkowski CM, Crozier IG, Nightingale S, Evans MJ, Ellis MJ, Joyce P, Donald RA. Plasma cortisol, PRL, ACTH, AVP and corticotrophin releasing hormone responses to direct current cardioversion and electroconvulsive therapy. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 1996;44(2):163-8.
- Fowler CD, Liu Y, Ouimet C, Wang Z. The effects of social environment on adult neurogenesis in the female prairie vole. J Neurobiol 2002;51(2):115–28.
- Frodl T, Meisenzahl EM, Zetzsche T, Born C, Groll C, Jäger M, Leinsinger G, Bottlender R, Hahn K, Möller HJ. Hippocampal changes in patients with a first episode of major depression. Am J Psychiatry 2002;159(7):1112-8.
- Frontczak-Baniewicz M, Walski M. Non-sprouting angiogenesis in neurohypophysis after traumatic injury of the cerebral cortex. Electron-microscopic studies. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 2002;23(5-6):396-404.
- Fujikawa DG. Prolonged seizures and cellular injury: understanding the connection. Epilepsy Behav 2005;7 Suppl 3:S3-11.
- Garthwaite G, Bartus K, Malcolm D, Goodwin D, Kollb-Sielecka M, Dooldeniya C, Garthwaite J. Signaling from blood vessels to CNS axons through nitric oxide. J Neurosci 2006;26(29):7730-40.
- Gavrieli Y, Sherman Y, Ben-Sasson SA. Identification of programmed cell death in situ via specific labeling of nuclear DNA fragmentation. J Cell Biol 1992;119(3):493-501.
- Gehrmann J, Matsumoto Y, Kreutzberg GW. Microglia: intrinsic immuneffector cell of the brain. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 1995;20(3):269-87.
- Ghosh A, Greenberg ME. Distinct roles for bFGF and NT-3 in the regulation of cortical neurogenesis. Neuron 1995;15(1):89-103.
- Gold PW, Goodwin FK, Chrousos GP. Clinical and biochemical manifestations of depression. Relation to the neurobiology of stress. N Engl J Med 1988;319(6):348-53.
- Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat Rev Immunol 2003;3(1):23-35.

- Gould E, Vail N, Wagers M, Gross CG. Adult-generated hippocampal and neocortical neurons in macaques have a transient existence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98(19):10910-7.
- Graeber MB, Bise K, Mehraein P. Synaptic stripping in the human facial nucleus. Acta Neuropathol 1993;86(2):179-81.
- Graeber MB, Streit WJ. Microglia: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol 2010;119(1):89-105.
- Greenberg DA. Angiogenesis and stroke. Drug News Perspect 1998;11(5):265-270.
- Greene J, Banasr M, Lee B, Warner-Schmidt J, Duman RS. Vascular endothelial growth factor signaling is required for the behavioral actions of antidepressant treatment: pharmacological and cellular characterization. Neuropsychopharmacology 2009;34(11):2459-68.
- Gwinn RP, Kondratyev A, Gale K. Time-dependent increase in basic fibroblast growth factor protein in limbic regions following electroshock seizures. Neuroscience 2002;114(2):403-9.
- Halaris A. Comorbidity between depression and cardiovascular disease. Int Angiol. 2009;28(2):92-9.
- Halassa MM, Haydon PG. Integrated brain circuits: astrocytic networks modulate neuronal activity and behavior. Annu Rev Physiol 2010;72:335–55.
- Hampton DW, Rhodes KE, Zhao C, Franklin RJ, Fawcett JW. The responses of oligodendrocyte precursor cells, astrocytes and microglia to a cortical stab injury, in the brain. Neuroscience 2004;127(4):813-20.
- Hanisch UK, Kettenmann H. Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. Nat Neurosci 2007;10(11):1387-94.
- Hashimoto H, Onishi H, Koide S, Kai T, Yamagami S. Plasma neuropeptide Y in patients with major depressive disorder. Neurosci Lett 1996;216(1):57-60.
- Hawkins BT, Davis TP. The blood-brain barrier/neurovascular unit in health and disease. Pharmacol Rev 2005;57(2):173–85.
- Hellsten J, Wennström M, Bengzon J, Mohapel P, Tingstrom A. Electroconvulsive seizures induce endothelial cell proliferation in adult rat hippocampus. Biol Psychiatry 2004;55(4):420-7.
- Hellsten J, West MJ, Arvidsson A, Ekstrand J, Jansson L, Wennström M, Tingstrom A. Electroconvulsive seizures induce angiogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. Biol Psychiatry 2005;58(11):871-8.
- Heninger GR, Delgado PL, Charney DS. The revised monoamine theory of depression: a modulatory role for monoamines, based on new findings from monoamine depletion experiments in humans. Pharmacopsychiatry 1996;29(1):2-11.

Henn FA, Vollmayr B. Basic pathophysiological mechanisms in depression: what are they and how might they affect the course of the illness? Pharmacopsychiatry 2004;37 Suppl 2:S152-6.

Henneberger C, Rusakov DA. Synaptic plasticity and Ca2+ signalling in astrocytes. Neuron Glia Biol 2010;13:1-6.

- Herman JP, Schafer KH, Sladek CD, Day R, Young EA, Akil H, Watson SJ. Chronic electroconvulsive shock treatment elicits up-regulation of CRF and AVP mRNA in select populations of neuroendocrine neurons. Brain Res 1989;501(2):235-46.
- Hoenig J, Chaulk R. Delirium associated with lithium therapy and electroconvulsive therapy. Can Med Assoc J 1977;116(8):837-838.
- Holsboer F. The corticosteroid receptor hypothesis of depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 2000;23(5):477-501.
- Holsboer F. Stress, hypercortisolism and corticosteroid receptors in depression: implications for therapy. J Affect Disord 2001;62(1-2):77-91.
- Howell OW, Doyle K, Goodman JH, Scharfman HE, Herzog H, Pringle A, Beck-Sickinger AG, Gray WP. Neuropeptide Y stimulates neuronal precursor proliferation in the post-natal and adult dentate gyrus. J Neurochem 2005;93(3):560-70.
- Huang GJ, Smith AL, Gray DH, Cosgrove C, Singer BH, Edwards A, Sim S, Parent JM, Johnsen A, Mott R, Mathis D, Klenerman P, Benoist C, Flint J. A genetic and functional relationship between T cells and cellular proliferation in the adult hippocampus. PLoS Biol 2010;8(12):e1000561.
- Jackson JR, Seed MP, Kircher CH, Willoughby DA, Winkler JD. The codependence of angiogenesis and chronic inflammation. FASEB J 1997;11(6):457-65.
- Jacobs BL, van Praag H, Gage FH. Adult brain neurogenesis and psychiatry: a novel theory of depression. Mol Psychiatry 2000;5(3):262-9.
- Jacobs BL. Adult brain neurogenesis and depression. Brain Behav Immun 2002;16(5):602-9.
- Jin K, Zhu Y, Sun Y, Mao XO, Xie L, Greenberg DA. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulates neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99(18):11946-50.
- Jinno S, Kosaka T. Reduction of Iba1-expressing microglial process density in the hippocampus following electroconvulsive shock. Exp Neurol 2008;212(2):440-7.
- Jones TA, Greenough WT. Ultrastructural evidence for increased contact between astrocytes and synapses in rats reared in a complex environment. Neurobiol Learn Mem 1996;65(1):48–56.
- Kalat JW. Mood disorders. In Kalat JW, (ed), Biological Psychiatry 7th ed. Canada, Wadsworth, 2001;430-1.
- Kamath S, Andrade C, Faruqi S, Venkataraman BV, Naga Rani MA, Candade VS. Evaluation of pre-ECS antihypertensive drug administration in the attenuation of ECS-induced retrograde amnesia. Convuls Ther 1997;13(3):185-95.
- Kempermann G. Regulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis implications for novel theories of major depression. Bipolar Disord 2002;4(1):17-33.

- Kempermann G, Kronenberg G. Depressed new neurons--adult hippocampal neurogenesis and a cellular plasticity hypothesis of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54(5):499-503.
- Khan A, Lai H, Ukai Y, Mirolo MH. NS-3, a TRH analog, reverses repeated ECS-induced deficits in water maze performance in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1994;47(3):477-481.
- Kim H, Li Q, Hempstead BL, Madri JA. Paracrine and autocrine functions of brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and nerve growth factor (NGF) in brainderived endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 2004;279(32):33538-46.
- Kodama M, Fujioka T, Duman RS. Chronic olanzapine or fluoxetine administration increases cell proliferation in hippocampus and prefrontal cortex of adult rat. Biol Psychiatry 2004;56(8):570-80.
- Kokoeva MV, Yin H, Flier JS. Neurogenesis in the hypothalamus of adult mice: potential role in energy balance. Science 2005;310(5748):679–83.
- Kokoeva MV, Yin H, Flier JS. Evidence for constitutive neural cell proliferation in the adult murine hypothalamus. J Comp Neurol 2007;505(2):209–20.
- Kondratyev A, Sahibzada N, Gale K. Electroconvulsive shock exposure prevents neuronal apoptosis after kainic acid-evoked status epilepticus. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 2001;91(1-2):1-13.
- Krishnan KR, Doraiswamy PM, Lurie SN, Figiel GS, Husain MM, Boyko OB, Ellinwood EH Jr, Nemeroff CB. Pituitary size in depression. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1991;72(2):256-9.
- Krishnan V, Nestler EJ. The molecular neurobiology of depression. Nature 2008 16;455(7215):894-902.
- Kriz J, Lalancette-Hébert M. Inflammation, plasticity and real-time imaging after cerebral ischemia. Acta Neuropathol 2009;117(5):497-509.
- Krystal AD, Weiner RD, Coffey CE. The ictal EEG as a marker of adequate stimulus intensity with unilateral ECT. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 1995;7(3):295-303.
- Krystal AD, Weiner RD, Dean MD, Lindahl VH, Tramontozzi LA 3rd, Falcone G, Coffey CE. Comparison of seizure duration, ictal EEG, and cognitive effects of ketamine and methohexital anesthesia with ECT. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 2003;15(1):27-34.
- Kunugi H, Ida I, Owashi T, Kimura M, Inoue Y, Nakagawa S, Yabana T, Urushibara T, Kanai R, Aihara M, et al., Assessment of the dexamethasone/CRH test as a state-dependent marker for hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis abnormalities in major depressive episode: a multicenter study. Neuropsychopharmacology 2006;31(1): 212–20.
- Lamont SR, Paulls A, Stewart CA. Repeated electroconvulsive stimulation, but not antidepressant drugs, induces mossy fibre sprouting in the rat hippocampus. Brain Res 2001;893(1-2):53-8.

- Lehrmann E, Christensen T, Zimmer J, Diemer NH, Finsen B. Microglial and macrophage reactions mark progressive changes and define the penumbra in the rat neocortex and striatum after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion. J Comp Neurol 1997;386(3):461–76.
- Lerer B, Stanley M, McIntyre I, Altman H. Electroconvulsive shock and brain muscarinic receptors: relationship to anterograde amnesia. Life Sci 1984;35(26):2659-64.
- Levin Y, Elizur A, Korczyn AD. Physostigmine improves ECT-induced memory disturbances. Neurology 1987;37(5):871-5.
- Lipsky PE. Specific COX-2 inhibitors in arthritis, oncology, and beyond: where is the science headed? J Rheumatol Suppl 1999;56:25-30.
- Lisanby SH, Maddox JH, Prudic J, Devanand DP, Sackeim HA. The effects of electroconvulsive therapy on memory of autobiographical and public events. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000;57(6):581-90.
- Lo EH, Broderick JP, Moskowitz MA. tPA and proteolysis in the neurovascular unit. Stroke 2004;35(2):354–6.
- Lok J, Gupta P, Guo S, Kim WJ, Whalen MJ, van Leyen K, Lo EH. Cell-cell signaling in the neurovascular unit. Neurochem Res 2007;32(12):2032-45.
- London A, Itskovich E, Benhar I, Kalchenko V, Mack M, Jung S, Schwartz M. Neuroprotection and progenitor cell renewal in the injured adult murine retina requires healing monocyte-derived macrophages. J Exp Med 2011;208(1):23-39.
- Loo CK, Schweitzer I, Pratt C. Recent advances in optimizing electroconvulsive therapy. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2006;40(8):632-8.
- Loo CK, Sainsbury K, Sheehan P, Lyndon B. A comparison of RUL ultrabrief pulse (0.3 ms) ECT and standard RUL ECT. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2008;11(7):883-90.
- Loscher W, Ebert U. The role of the piriform cortex in kindling. Prog Neurobiol 1996;50(5-6):427-81.
- Lukoyanov NV, Sa MJ, Madeira MD, Paula-Barbosa MM. Selective loss of hilar neurons and impairment of initial learning in rats after repeated administration of electroconvulsive shock seizures. Exp Brain Res 2004;154(2):192-200.
- Madsen TM, Yeh DD, Valentine GW, Duman RS. Electroconvulsive seizure treatment increases cell proliferation in rat frontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 2005;30(1):27-34.
- Madsen TM, Treschow A, Bengzon J, Bolwig TG, Lindvall O, Tingstrom A. Increased neurogenesis in a model of electroconvulsive therapy. Biol Psychiatry 2000;47(12):1043-9.
- Malberg JE, Eisch AJ, Nestler EJ, Duman RS. Chronic antidepressant treatment increases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 2000;20(24):9104-10.

- Mandolesi G, Grasselli G, Musumeci G, Centonze D. Cognitive deficits in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: neuroinflammation and synaptic degeneration. Neurol Sci 2010;31(Suppl 2):S255-9.
- Mann JJ. Neurobiological correlates of the antidepressant action of electroconvulsive therapy. J ECT 1998;14(3):172-80.
- Masco D, Sahibzada N, Switzer R, Gale K. Electroshock seizures protect against apoptotic hippocampal cell death induced by adrenalectomy. Neuroscience 1999;91(4):1315-9.
- Matsuzaki K, Katakura M, Hara T, Li G, Hashimoto M, Shido O. Proliferation of neuronal progenitor cells and neuronal differentiation in the hypothalamus are enhanced in heat-acclimated rats. Pflugers Arch 2009;458(4):661–73.
- Matthews JD, Blais M, Park L, et al.,. The impact of galantamine on cognition and mood during electroconvulsive therapy: a pilot study. J Psychiatr Res 2008;42(7):526-31.
- McCormick LM, Brumm MC, Benede AK, Lewis JL. Relative ineffectiveness of ultrabrief right unilateral versus bilateral electroconvulsive therapy in depression. J ECT 2009;25(4):238-42.
- McDaniel WW, Sahota AK, Vyas BV, Laguerta N, Hategan L, Oswald J. Ketamine appears associated with better word recall than etomidate after a course of 6 electroconvulsive therapies. J ECT 2006;22(2):103-6.
- Merkl A, Heuser I, Bajbouj M. Antidepressant electroconvulsive therapy: mechanism of action, recent advances and limitations. Exp Neurol 2009;219(1):20-6.
- Migaud M, Batailler M, Pillon D, Franceschini I, Malpaux B. Seasonal Dependant Variation of Cell Proliferation in the Sheep Hypothalamus and Thalamus. 9th congress of the French Society for Neurosciences, 26–29 May 2009, Bordeaux, France.
- Mishima Y, Harada H, Sugiyama K, Miyagawa Y, Uehara N, Kano T. Induction of neuronal tolerance by electroconvulsive shock in rats subjected to forebrain ischemia. Kurume Med J 2005;52(4):153-60.
- Monje ML, Toda H, Palmer TD. Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Science 2003;302(5651):1760–5.
- Morris R. Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. J Neurosci Methods 1984;11(1):47-60.
- Mosser DM. The many faces of macrophage activation. J Leukoc Biol 2003;73(2):209-12.
- Mulsant BH, Rosen J, Thornton JE, Zubenko GS. A prospective naturalistic study of electroconvulsive therapy in late-life depression. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 1991;4(1):3–13.
- Nagaraja N, Andrade C, Sudha S, Madan Singh N, Chandra JS, Venkataraman BV. Glucocorticoid mechanisms may contribute to ECT-induced retrograde amnesia. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2007;190(1):73-80.

- Nemeroff CB, Widerlöv E, Bissette G, Walléus H, Karlsson I, Eklund K, Kilts CD, Loosen PT, Vale W. Elevated concentrations of CSF corticotropin-releasing factorlike immunoreactivity in depressed patients. Science 1984;226(4680):1342-4.
- Nemeroff CB, Owens MJ, Bissette G, Andorn AC, Stanley M. Reduced corticotropin releasing factor binding sites in the frontal cortex of suicide victims. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1988;45(6):577-9.
- Nemeroff CB, Bissette G, Akil H, Fink M. Neuropeptide concentrations in the cerebrospinal fluid of depressed patients treated with electroconvulsive therapy. Corticotrophin-releasing factor, beta-endorphin and somatostatin. Br J Psychiatry 1991;158:59-63.
- Nemeroff CB, Krishnan KR, Reed D, Leder R, Beam C, Dunnick NR. Adrenal gland enlargement in major depression. A computed tomographic study. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1992;49(5):384-7.
- Newton SS, Collier EF, Hunsberger J, Adams D, Terwilliger R, Selvanayagam E, Duman RS. Gene profile of electroconvulsive seizures: induction of neurotrophic and angiogenic factors. J Neurosci 2003;23(34):10841-51.
- Nibuya M, Morinobu S, Duman RS. Regulation of BDNF and trkB mRNA in rat brain by chronic electroconvulsive seizure and antidepressant drug treatments. J Neurosci 1995;15(11):7539-47.
- Nobler MS, Sackeim HA, Solomou M, Luber B, Devanand DP, Prudic J. EEG manifestations during ECT: effects of electrode placement and stimulus intensity. Biol Psychiatry 1993;34(5):321-30.
- Nobler MS, Sackeim HA. Neurobiological correlates of the cognitive side effects of electroconvulsive therapy. J ECT 2008;24(1):40-5.
- Nonaka S, Hough CJ, Chuang DM. Chronic lithium treatment robustly protects neurons in the central nervous system against excitotoxicity by inhibiting N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated calcium influx. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95(5): 2642-7.
- Nordanskog P, Dahlstrand U, Larsson MR, Larsson EM, Knutsson L, Johanson A. Increase in hippocampal volume after electroconvulsive therapy in patients with depression: a volumetric magnetic resonance imaging study. J ECT 2010;26(1):62-7.
- Odeberg H, Ottosson JO. Electroconvulsive therapy is not passe. An unsurpassed effect in severe depression. Lakartidningen 2011;108(3):85-9.
- Olah M, Ping G, De Haas AH, Brouwer N, Meerlo P, Van Der Zee EA, Biber K, Boddeke HW. Enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis in the absence of microglia T cell interaction and microglia activation in the murine running wheel model. Glia 2009;57(10):1046–61.
- Olney JW. Brain lesions, obesity, and other disturbances in mice treated with monosodium glutamate. Science 1969;164:719–721.

Orre K, Wennström M, Tingstrom A. Chronic lithium treatment decreases NG2 cell proliferation in rat dentate hilus, amygdala and corpus callosum. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2009;33(3):503-10.

Ottosson JO. Psykiatri. Liber AB 1983;284.

- Palmer TD, Willhoite AR, Gage FH. Vascular niche for adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J Comp Neurol 2000;425(4):479-94.
- Palmio J, Huuhka M, Laine S, Huhtala H, Peltola J, Leinonen E, Suhonen J, Keränen T. Electroconvulsive therapy and biomarkers of neuronal injury and plasticity: Serum levels of neuron-specific enolase and S-100b protein. Psychiatry Res 2010;177(1-2):97-100.
- Pariante CM. Depression, stress and the adrenal axis. J Neuroendocrinol 2003; 15(8):811-2.
- Patrignani P, Tacconelli S, Sciulli MG, Capone ML. New insights into COX-2 biology and inhibition. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 2005;48(2):352-9.
- Paxinos G, Watson C. The Rat Brain in Stereotactic Coordinates: Academic Press Australia: Sydney, 1986.
- Pekny M, Nilsson M. Astrocyte activation and reactive gliosis. Glia 2005;50(4):427-34.
- Pencea V, Bingaman KD, Wiegand SJ, Luskin MB. Infusion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor into the lateral ventricle of the adult rat leads to new neurons in the parenchyma of the striatum, septum, thalamus, and hypothalamus. J Neurosci 2001;21(17):6706–17.
- Perea G, Araque A. Astrocytes potentiate transmitter release at single hippocampal synapses. Science 2007;317(5841):1083–6.
- Perera TD, Coplan JD, Lisanby SH, Lipira CM, Arif M, Carpio C, Spitzer G, Santarelli L, Scharf B, Hen R, Rosoklija G, Sackeim HA, Dwork AJ. Antidepressant-induced neurogenesis in the hippocampus of adult nonhuman primates. J Neurosci 2007;27(18):4894-901.
- Perera TD, Park S, Nemirovskaya Y. Cognitive role of neurogenesis in depression and antidepressant treatment. Neuroscientist 2008;14(4):326-38.
- Pérez-Martín M, Cifuentes M, Grondona JM, López-Avalos MD, Gómez-Pinedo U, García-Verdugo JM, Fernández-Llebrez P. IGF-I stimulates neurogenesis in the hypothalamus of adult rats. Eur J Neurosci 2010;31(9):1533-48.
- Pigot M, Andrade C, Loo C. Pharmacological attenuation of electroconvulsive therapy--induced cognitive deficits: theoretical background and clinical findings. J ECT 2008;24(1):57-67.
- Prakash J, Kotwal A, Prabhu H. Therapeutic and prophylactic utility of the memoryenhancing drug donepezil hydrochloride on cognition of patients undergoing electroconvulsive therapy: a randomized controlled trial. J ECT 2006;22(3):163-8.
- Quiroz JA, Machado-Vieira R, Zarate CA Jr, Manji HK. Novel insights into lithium's mechanism of action: neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects. Neuropsychobiology 2010;62(1):50-60.

- Raadsheer FC, Hoogendijk WJ, Stam FC, Tilders FJ, Swaab DF. Increased numbers of corticotropin-releasing hormone expressing neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus of depressed patients. Neuroendocrinology 1994;60(4):436-44.
- Raivich G, Bohatschek M, Kloss CU, Werner A, Jones LL, Kreutzberg GW. Neuroglial activation repertoire in the injured brain: graded response, molecular mechanisms and cues to physiological function. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 1999;30(1):77-105.
- Rao SK, Andrade C, Reddy K, Madappa KN, Thyagarajan S, Chandra S. Memory protective effect of indomethacin against electroconvulsive shock-induced retrograde amnesia in rats. Biol Psychiatry 2002;51(9):770-3.
- Reid IC, Stewart CA. Seizures, memory and synaptic plasticity. Seizure 1997;6(5):351-9.
- Ressler KJ, Mayberg HS. Targeting abnormal neural circuits in mood and anxiety disorders: from the laboratory to the clinic. Nature Neurosci 2007;10(9):1116–24.
- Rigau V, Morin M, Rousset MC, de Bock F, Lebrun A, Coubes P, Picot MC, Baldy-Moulinier M, Bockaert J, Crespel A, Lerner-Natoli M. Angiogenesis is associated with blood-brain barrier permeability in temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 2007;130(Pt 7):1942-56.
- Rowley HL, Marsden CA, Martin KF. Generalised seizure-induced changes in rat hippocampal glutamate but not GABA release are potentiated by repeated seizures. Neurosci Lett 1997;234(2-3):143-6.
- Rubin RT, Phillips JJ, Sadow TF, McCracken JT. Adrenal gland volume in major depression. Increase during the depressive episode and decrease with successful treatment. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1995;52(3):213-8.
- Sackeim HA, Decina P, Prohovnik I, Malitz S, Resor SR. Anticonvulsant and antidepressant properties of electroconvulsive therapy: a proposed mechanism of action. Biol Psychiatry 1983;18(11):1301-10.
- Sackeim HA, Prudic J, Devanand DP, Nobler MS, Lisanby SH, Peyser S, Fitzsimons L, Moody BJ, Clark J. A prospective, randomized, double-blind comparison of bilateral and right unilateral electroconvulsive therapy at different stimulus intensities. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000;57(5):425-34.
- Sackeim HA, Prudic J, Fuller R, Keilp J, Lavori PW, Olfson M. The cognitive effects of electroconvulsive therapy in community settings. Neuropsychopharmacology 2007;32(1):244-54.
- Sackeim HA, Prudic J, Nobler MS, Fitzsimons L, Lisanby SH, Payne N, Berman RM, Brakemeier EL, Perera T, et al.,. Effects of pulse width and electrode placement on the efficacy and cognitive effects of electroconvulsive therapy. Brain Stimul 2008;1(2):71-83.

- Samoriski GM, Piekut DT, Applegate CD. Differential spatial patterns of Fos induction following generalized clonic and generalized tonic seizures. Exp Neurol 1997;143(2):255-68.
- Sanacora G, Mason GF, Rothman DL, Hyder F, Ciarcia JJ, Ostroff RB, Berman RM, Krystal JH. Increased cortical GABA concentrations in depressed patients receiving ECT. Am J Psychiatry 2003;160(3):577–9.
- Santarelli L, Saxe M, Gross C, Surget A, Battaglia F, Dulawa S, Weisstaub N, Lee J, Duman R, Arancio O, et al.,. Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. Science 2003;301(5634):805-9.
- Sapolsky RM. Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2000;57(10):925-35.
- Scharfman HE. Epileptogenesis in the parahippocampal region. Parallels with the dentate gyrus. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2000;911:305-27.
- Schwartz M. Protective autoimmunity as a T-cell response to central nervous system trauma: prospects for therapeutic vaccines. Prog Neurobiol 2001;65(5):489-96.
- Scott LV, Dinan TG. Vasopressin and the regulation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis function: implications for the pathophysiology of depression. Life Sci 1998;62(22):1985-98.
- Scott BW, Wojtowicz JM, Burnham WM. Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the rat following electroconvulsive shock seizures. Exp Neurol 2000;165(2):231-6.
- Sheline YI. 3D MRI studies of neuroanatomic changes in unipolar major depression: the role of stress and medical comorbidity. Biol Psychiatry 2000;48(8):791-800.
- Sheline YI. Neuroimaging studies of mood disorder effects on the brain. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54(3):338-52.
- Shiwach RS, Reid WH, Carmody TJ. An analysis of reported deaths following electroconvulsive therapy in Texas, 1993-1998. Psychiatr Serv 2001;52(8):1095-7.
- Shorter E, Healy D. *Shock Therapy: A History of Electroconvulsive Treatment in Mental Illness.* New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press, 2007;398.
- Slavin J. Fibroblast growth factors: at the heart of angiogenesis. Cell Biol Int 1995;19(5):431-44.
- Small JG, Kellams JJ, Milstein V, Small IF. Complications with electroconvulsive treatment combined with lithium. Biol Psychiatry 1980;15(1):103-112.
- Smith J, Williams K, Birkett S, Nicholson H, Glue P, Nutt DJ. Neuroendocrine and clinical effects of electroconvulsive therapy and their relationship to treatment outcome. Psychol Med 1994;24:547-55.
- Sourial-Bassillious N, Rydelius PA, Aperia A, Aizman O. Glutamate-mediated calcium signaling: a potential target for lithium action. Neuroscience 2009;161(4):1126-34.

- Squire LR, Stark CE, Clark RE. The medial temporal lobe. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2004;27:279-306.
- Stenfors C, Theodorsson E, Mathe AA. Effect of repeated electroconvulsive treatment on regional concentrations of tachykinins, neurotensin, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide, neuropeptide Y, and galanin in rat brain. J Neurosci Res 1989;24(3):445-50.
- Stewart CA, Reid IC. Ketamine prevents ECS-induced synaptic enhancement in rat hippocampus. Neurosci Lett 1994;178(1):11-4.
- Stoppe A, Louzã M, Rosa M, Gil G, Rigonatti S. Fixed high-dose electroconvulsive therapy in the elderly with depression: a double-blind, randomized comparison of efficacy and tolerability between unilateral and bilateral electrode placement. J ECT 2006;22(2):92-9.
- Streit WJ, Xue QS. Life and death of microglia. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 2009;4(4):371-9.
- Suppes T, Webb A, Carmody T, Gordon E, Gutierrez-Esteinou R, Hudson JI, Pope HG Jr. Is postictal electrical silence a predictor of response to electroconvulsive therapy? J Affect Disord 1996;41(1):55-8.
- Sushma M, Sudha S, Guido S. Pre-electroconvulsive shock administration of calcium channel blockers reduces retrograde amnesia induced by ECS. Indian J Exp Biol 2004;42(11):1141-4.
- Swain RA, Harris AB, Wiener EC, Dutka MV, Morris HD, Theien BE, Konda S, Engberg K, Lauterbur PC, Greenough WT. Prolonged exercise induces angiogenesis and increases cerebral blood volume in primary motor cortex of the rat. Neuroscience 2003;117(4):1037-46.
- Taylor SM. Electroconvulsive therapy, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, and possible neurorestorative benefit of the clinical application of electroconvulsive therapy. J ECT 2008;24(2):160-5.
- Thirthalli J, Harish T, Gangadhar BN. A prospective comparative study of interaction between lithium and modified electroconvulsive therapy. World J Biol Psychiatry 2010; 12(2):149-55.
- Thored P, Heldmann U, Gomes-Leal W, Gisler R, Darsalia V, Taneera J, Nygren JM, Jacobsen SE, Ekdahl CT, Kokaia Z, Lindvall O. Long-term accumulation of microglia with proneurogenic phenotype concomitant with persistent neurogenesis in adult subventricular zone after stroke. Glia 2009;57(8):835-49.
- Trapp BD, Wujek JR, Criste GA, Jalabi W, Yin X, Kidd GJ, Stohlman S, Ransohoff R. Evidence for synaptic stripping by cortical microglia. Glia 2007;55(4):360-8.
- Tsaltas E, Kontis D, Boulougouris V, Papakosta VM, Giannou H, Poulopoulou C, Soldatos C. Enhancing effects of chronic lithium on memory in the rat. Behav Brain Res 2007;177(1):51-60.
- Ullian EM, Sapperstein SK, Christopherson KS, Barres BA. Control of synapse number by glia. Science 2001;291(5504):657–61

- Vaidya VA, Siuciak JA, Du F, Duman RS. Hippocampal mossy fiber sprouting induced by chronic electroconvulsive seizures. Neuroscience 1999;89(1):157-66.
- Vasconcellos AP, Tabajara AS, Ferrari C, Rocha E, Dalmaz C. Effect of chronic stress on spatial memory in rats is attenuated by lithium treatment. Physiol Behav 2003;79(2):143-9.
- Verreck FA, de Boer T, Langenberg DM, van der Zanden L, Ottenhoff TH. Phenotypic and functional profiling of human proinflammatory type-1 and antiinflammatory type-2 macrophages in response to microbial antigens and IFN-gamma- and CD40L-mediated costimulation. J Leukoc Biol 2006;79(2):285-93.
- Vezzani A, Granata T. Brain inflammation in epilepsy: experimental and clinical evidence. Epilepsia 2005;46(11):1724-43.
- Volterra A, Meldolesi J. Astrocytes, from brain glue to communication elements: the revolution continues. Nat Rev Neurosci 2005;6(8):626-40.
- Wake H, Moorhouse AJ, Jinno S, Kohsaka S, Nabekura J. Resting microglia directly monitor the functional state of synapses in vivo and determine the fate of ischemic terminals. J. Neurosci 2009;29(13):3974–80.
- Walton NM, Sutter BM, Laywell ED, Levkoff LH, Kearns SM, Marshall II GP, Scheffler B, Steindler DA. Microglia instruct subventricular zone neurogenesis. Glia 2006;54(8):815–25.
- Wang Y, Qin ZH. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of excitotoxic neuronal death. Apoptosis 2010;15(11):1382-402.
- Wennström M, Hellsten J, Ekdahl CT, Tingstrom A. Electroconvulsive seizures induce proliferation of NG2-expressing glial cells in adult rat hippocampus. Biol Psychiatry 2003;54(10):1015-24.
- Wennström M, Hellsten J, Tingstrom A. Electroconvulsive seizures induce proliferation of NG2-expressing glial cells in adult rat amygdala. Biol Psychiatry 2004;55(5):464-71.
- Whalley LJ, Eagles JM, Bowler GM, Bennie JG, Dick HR, McGuire RJ, Fink G. Selective effects of ECT on hypothalamic–pituitary activity. Psychol Med 1987;17(2):319–28.
- Whitney NP, Eidem TM, Peng H, Huang Y, Zheng JC. Inflammation mediates varying effects in neurogenesis: relevance to the pathogenesis of brain injury and neurodegenerative disorders. J Neurochem 2009;108(6):1343-59.
- WHO. World health Report. Geneva 2010, WHO Press.
- Wolf SA, Steiner B, Akpinarli A, Kammertoens T, Nassenstein C, Braun A, Blankenstein T, Kempermann G. CD4-positive T lymphocytes provide a neuroimmunological link in the control of adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J Immunol 2009;182(7):3979-84.
- Xu Y, Tamamaki N, Noda T, Kimura K, Itokazu Y, Matsumoto N, Dezawa M, Ide C. Neurogenesis in the ependymal layer of the adult rat 3rd ventricle. Exp Neurol 2005;192(2):251–264.

- Yamada J, Hayashi Y, Jinno S, Wu Z, Inoue K, Kohsaka S, Nakanishi H. Reduced synaptic activity precedes synaptic stripping in vagal motoneurons after axotomy. Glia 2008;56(13):1448-62.
- Yan XB, Wang SS, Hou HL, Ji R, Zhou JN. Lithium improves the behavioral disorder in rats subjected to transient global cerebral ischemia. Behav Brain Res 2007;177(2):282-9.
- Yao Z, Guo Z, Yang C, Tian Q, Gong CX, Liu G, Wang JZ. Phenylbutyric acid prevents rats from electroconvulsion-induced memory deficit with alterations of memoryrelated proteins and tau hyperphosphorylation. Neuroscience 2010;168(2):405-415.
- Yirmiya R, Goshen I. Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. Brain Behav Immun 2011;25(2):181-213.
- Yuskaitis CJ, Jope RS. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 regulates microglial migration, inflammation, and inflammation-induced neurotoxicity. Cell Signal 2009;21(2):264-73.
- Zachrisson O, Mathé AA, Stenfors C, Lindefors N. Limbic effects of repeated electroconvulsive stimulation on neuropeptide Y and somatostatin mRNA expression in the rat brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 1995;31(1-2):71-85.
- Zachrisson OC, Balldin J, Ekman R, Naesh O, Rosengren L, Agren H, Blennow K. No evident neuronal damage after electroconvulsive therapy. Psychiatry Res 2000;96(2):157-65.
- Zarubenko, II, Yakovlev AA, Stepanichev MY, Gulyaeva NV. Electroconvulsive shock induces neuron death in the mouse hippocampus: correlation of neurodegeneration with convulsive activity. Neurosci Behav Physiol 2005;35(7):715-21.
- Zhu ZF, Wang QG, Han BJ, William CP. Neuroprotective effect and cognitive outcome of chronic lithium on traumatic brain injury in mice. Brain Res Bull 2010;83(5):272-7.
- Zigova T, Pencea V, Wiegand SJ, Luskin MB. Intraventricular administration of BDNF increases the number of newly generated neurons in the adult olfactory bulb. Mol Cell Neurosci 1998;11(4):234-45.
- Ziv Y, Ron N, Butovsky O, Landa G, Sudai E, Greenberg N, Cohen H, Kipnis J, Schwartz M. Immune cells contribute to the maintenance of neurogenesis and spatial learning abilities in adulthood. Nat Neurosci 2006;9(2):268-75.
- Ziv Y, Schwartz M. Orchestrating brain-cell renewal: the role of immune cells in adult neurogenesis in health and disease. Trends Mol Med 2008;14(11):471-8.
- Zukowska-Grojec Z, Karwatowska-Prokopczuk E, Rose W Rone J, Movafagh S, Ji H, Yeh Y, Chen WT, Kleinman HK, Grouzmann E, et al., Neuropeptide Y: a novel angiogenic factor from the sympathetic nerves and endothelium. Circ Res 1998;83(2):187-95.

sion, ECT is known to regulate neurotransmitters (for review, see Mann 1998), growth factors expression (Altar et al 2004), axonal sprouting (Lamont et al 2001; Vaidya et al 2000), and From the Molecular Psychiatry Unit (LJ, JH, AT), Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, Lund, Sweden. **Zupark Gry Litter 21** and Matssice Long Mates ico Long Simon (E) Simon (E

atry Unit, Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, BMC A13, S-22184, Lund, treatment on drinking and feeding behavior and on Serum swamtod ipinecon electroconvulsive shock-induced: ammesia: in the rate rate for a serum Received June 8,2005; revised November 21, 2005; accepted November 24, 2009 harmacol 1996; 310(2-3):103-6.

0006-3223/06/\$32.00 doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.11.019

BIOL PSYCHIATRY 2006;60:874-881 © 2006 Society of Biological Psychiatry